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this has been a year of achievement for BC Housing and our partners. under the provincial housing strategy Housing 
Matters BC, more households were served and more resources invested in social housing programs than ever before in 
the 40 year history of BC Housing. 

in 2007/08 provincial spending through BC Housing increased 10 per cent to $352 million by expanding the supply of 
provincially administered housing programs for frail seniors and those who are homeless, and through rent assistance for 
low-income working families. our approach is to target programs to those in greatest need, while also building a more 
effective system for meeting wider housing and support needs. 

Breaking the cycle of homelessness was a major focus for BC Housing in 2007/08 with new and enhanced initiatives. 
increased funding for emergency shelters to open 24 hours a day/seven days a week, along with the expansion of 
homeless outreach to more than 40 communities and homeless rent supplements, are making a difference by connect-
ing homeless people to the housing and services they need. the construction of new supported housing through the  
Provincial Homelessness Initiative and the purchase and upgrade of single room occupancy hotels is expanding the supply 
of safe, affordable and stable housing for those who might otherwise be on the street. together these initiatives will help 
to create an integrated and comprehensive system of housing and support to address homelessness. 

We continue to apply innovative approaches to fast-track the development of new social and supported housing to 
address homelessness. the province is providing $10 million towards pre-development costs to ensure units are ready 
for construction within one year. in 2007/08, agreements were reached with the City of Vancouver, the City of Victoria 
and the City of Kelowna to expedite the development of supported housing in those cities. We made significant prog-
ress towards the redevelopment of Little Mountain in Vancouver, and are also moving forward with a redevelopment 
project as part of our agreement with the City of Victoria. 

(continued on page 2)

Joint Message from the Chair  
and Chief executive officer

the 2007/08 BC Housing annual report was prepared under our direction in accordance with the Budget trans-
parency and accountability act and the BC reporting Principles. We are accountable for the contents of the report, 
including what has been included in the report and how it has been reported. 

the information presented reflects the actual performance of BC Housing for the twelve months ended March 31, 2008 
in relation to the February 2007 service plan. the measures presented are consistent with BC Housing’s mandate, 
goals and strategies, and focus on aspects critical to the organization’s performance.

 We are responsible for ensuring internal controls are in place to ensure performance information is measured and 
reported accurately and in a timely fashion. 

all significant decisions, events and identified risks, as of March 31, 2008, have been considered in preparing the 
report. the report contains estimates and interpretive information that represent the best judgement of man-
agement. any changes in mandate direction, goals, strategies, measures or targets made since the February 2007  
service plan was released and any significant limitations in the reliability of data are identified in the report.

About this Annual Report
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this year we moved forward with our strategic goals and objectives, meeting or exceeding nine of our 12 performance 
measures. For example, we adapted 674 existing social housing units to ensure that those in greatest need receive prior-
ity for housing assistance, exceeding our target and increasing the number of units that were adapted the previous year. 
While we did not meet our target number of new households assisted through rent assistance programs, we instituted 
significant changes to the Rental Assistance Program effective april, 2008 that will enable a greater number of working 
families to bridge the housing affordability gap in the private rental market. 

We also took steps to identify and manage risks, including the effects of volatility in the financial markets on mortgage 
administration as well as rising construction, utility and operating costs. in moving towards more sound environmental 
practices, we initiated the development of a sustainability action plan that aims to make BC Housing a leader in devel-
oping and managing environmentally sustainable social housing. a pilot project which saw energy efficiency features 
added to 49 social housing buildings across B.C. was expanded to 90 more developments. 

it has been a successful year and we made significant progress towards meeting the housing needs of British Columbians. 
in fact, it has been a very successful 40 years as we looked back during our 40th anniversary celebrations. We are very 
proud of our history, and are grateful to everyone who has contributed to our achievements. Looking forward we are 
excited to continue working with all of our partners to build the best system of subsidized housing in Canada for those 
in greatest need.

Brenda eaton 
Chair 

shayne Ramsay  
Chief executive officer

Joint Message from the Chair and Chief executive officer (continued)
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our Business Direction

Housing Matters BC, a housing strategy for British Columbia, provides the framework for the evolution of the housing 
sector, including the business direction for BC Housing. the strategy contains six goals, each of which is client-focused. 
BC Housing is the lead government agency ensuring the first four goals are met through a variety of programs and  
partnerships. Following are a number of initiatives we have underway in support of these long-term goals.

1

2

3

4

5

6

 the homeless have aCCess to stable housiNg with iNtegrated suPPort serviCes 

	 •	Providing	new	supported	housing	through	the	Provincial Homelessness Initiative 

	 •	Expanding	the	Homeless Outreach Program and providing homeless rent supplements

	 •	Enhancing	the	Emergency Shelter Program

  b.C.’s most vulNerable CitizeNs reCeive Priority for assistaNCe

	 •	Delivering	new	supported	and	assisted	living	units	through Independent Living BC 

	 •	Adapting	and	converting	existing	social	housing	units	for	those	in	greatest	need

	 •	Redeveloping	aging	and	under-utilized	social	housing	sites

 aborigiNal housiNg Need is addressed 

	 •	Building	new	homes	through	the	Aboriginal Housing Initiative

	 •	Delivering	the Aboriginal Homeless Outreach Program and homeless rent supplements

	 •	Improving	capacity	and	relationship	building	with	the	Aboriginal	housing	sector

 low-iNCome households have imProved aCCess to affordable reNtal housiNg

	 •	Providing	assistance	through	the	Shelter Aid for Elderly Renters program

	 •	Enhancing	the	Rental Assistance Program for working families 

 homeowNershiP is suPPorted as aN aveNue to self-suffiCieNCy

 b.C.’s housiNg aNd buildiNg regulatory system is safe, stable aNd effiCieNt

Detailed descriptions of BC Housing programs as well as Housing Matters BC can be found at www.bchousing.org.
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We are ensuring that we develop new units at the supportive end of the housing continuum in order to promote  
individuals’ stability, self-reliance and independence. With the existing housing portfolio, we are ensuring that individuals  
or households with special housing needs will be given priority access to subsidized housing, and that provincially-
owned subsidized housing will be renovated or redeveloped to better meet the needs of low-income households with 
special needs. 

We are also taking steps to ensure that the delivery of new housing units as well as the management of the existing  
housing portfolio promote sustainability and mitigate impacts on the environment.

eNviroNmeNtal sustaiNability aNd soCial housiNg

BC Housing has a new sustainability strategy called livegreen: A Housing Sustainability Action Plan that outlines  
BC Housing’s vision of being a leader in north america in developing and managing environmentally sustainable social 
housing. the plan’s three main objectives focus on:

•		Reducing	 energy	 consumption	 and	 implementing	measurable	 sustainability	 improvements	 across	 social	 housing	 
buildings and BC Housing’s operations

•		Engaging	stakeholders,	employees	and	social	housing	tenants	in	positive	sustainability	actions

•		Setting	an	example	 that	will	 encourage	B.C.’s	 residential	 construction	 sector	 to	practice	 sustainable	construction	and	 
property management

in 2008/09, BC Housing will begin reporting on reductions in greenhouse gas emissions in its offices and public  
housing buildings. 

Core Business Areas 
BC Housing’s core business areas are aligned to support our business direction established through Housing Matters BC 
and integrated within our performance measurement framework (see page 17). Highlights of 2007/08 activities related 
to our four core business areas are presented in the summary below.

our Business Direction (continued)

our Core busiNess areas – highlights for 2007/08

increasing housing options to respond to gaps in the housing continuum. Where there are gaps in the existing  
housing continuum, BC Housing works to fill these either by creating new options or adapting existing housing to better 
meet the needs of vulnerable residents.

•	Delivery	of	1,552	new	supportive	housing	units	under	the	Provincial Homelessness Initiative

•		Established	Memoranda	of	Understanding	with	 the	 cities	 of	Vancouver,	Victoria,	 and	 Kelowna	 to	 expedite	 the	 
development of new supportive housing

•		Implemented	new	measures	to	break	the	cycle	of	homelessness	including:	i)	opening	emergency	shelters	24	hours	
a day, seven days a week, and ii) expanding the Homeless Outreach Program to more than 40 communities

(continued on page 5)
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(continued from page 4)

•		Acquired	additional	single	room	occupancy	hotels	and	apartment	buildings	for	a	total	of	over	1,428	units	to	help	
preserve the supply of affordable rental housing 

•	Delivered	425	new	independent	living	units	under	Independent Living BC 

•	Completed	the	first	Aboriginal Housing Initiative development, spirit-Bear Centre in abbotsford 

•		Converted	 197	 subsidized	units	 under	 the Seniors’ Supportive Housing program to supportive housing units for  
low-income seniors who need some assistance in order to continue to live independently

•		Provided	20,370	families	and	seniors	with	rent	assistance	through	the Rental Assistance Program and the Shelter Aid 
for Elderly Renters program

•		Approved	funding	for	almost	$8	million	for	14	innovative	new	housing	projects	through	the	Housing Endowment Fund 

maintaining and administering existing housing to protect and manage for the long term. We have a responsibility 
to ensure that existing subsidized housing is well managed and well maintained so that it is available for people in need 
well into the future.

•	Completed	449	modernization	and	improvement	projects	at	public	housing	sites

•	Completed	11	major	modernization	and	improvement	projects

•	Carried	out	building	envelope	repairs	projects	at	16	housing	sites

•	Completed	energy	and	water	audits	at	25	public	housing	sites	

Providing Client service to ensure access to appropriate housing and services for vulnerable British Columbians. We are  
client-focused in delivering our programs and working with our housing partners.

•	Found	suitable	housing	for	more	than1,820	applicants	in	subsidized	housing	through	the	Housing	Registry

•	Responded	to	over	124,600	calls	through	BC	Housing’s	inquiry	line

•	Increased	participation	in	the	Housing	Registry	by	20	societies

delivering services Cost-effectively through organizational excellence. We are accountable to British Columbians about 
how we spend taxpayers’ dollars and work to ensure effective and efficient delivery of programs and services.

•		Improved	 our	 capacity	 to	 address	 the	 support	 needs	 of	 vulnerable	 tenants,	 and	 to	more	 effectively	match	 
applicants with available units that meet their housing and support needs 

•	Implemented	major	IT	system	improvements

•		Implemented	 BC	Housing’s	“People	 Strategy”	with	 a	 focus	 on	 employee	 engagement,	 leadership,	 succession	 
planning, learning and growth
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Organizational Structure

our Mandate
the British Columbia Housing Management Commission (BC Housing) was created in 1967 through  
an order-in-Council under the Housing Act to fulfill the government’s commitment to the development, 
management and administration of subsidized housing.

our Vision
Housing solutions for healthier futures. 
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board of CommissioNers 

BC Housing is responsible to the Minister of Forests and range and Minister responsible for Housing through a Board of 
Commissioners. the government appoints the Board to oversee policy-making for the organization and, in cooperation 
with senior management, to set the strategic direction. the Board also monitors performance based on the Province’s 
planning and reporting principles. the Board delegates responsibility for the day-to-day leadership and management 
to the Chief executive officer.

the Board incorporates best practices into its governance procedures as guided by the Best Practice Guidelines on Gover-
nance and Disclosure for Public Sector Organizations.	As	requested	in	the	guidelines,	BC	Housing’s	disclosure	is	available	
on the company’s website at www.bchousing.org. 

staNdiNg Committees of the board of CommissioNers

the following three standing committees support the role of the Board of Commissioners in fulfilling its obligations and 
oversight responsibilities.

Audit and Risk Management Committee 

ensures that the audit process, financial reporting, accounting systems, management plans and budgets, and the system 
of corporate controls and risk management are reliable, efficient and effective.

Corporate governance Committee

ensures that BC Housing develops and implements an effective approach to corporate governance. this enables the 
business and affairs of the Commission to be carried out, directed and managed with the objective of enhancing value 
to government and the public.

Human Resources Committee

Provides a focus on senior management human resource and compensation issues.

staNdards of CoNduCt

the Board of Commissioners adheres to the following standards of conduct when exercising its powers and perform-
ing the functions of the organization:

•	Act	honestly,	in	good	faith	and	in	the	best	interests	of	BC	Housing;

•	Exercise	care,	skill	and	diligence	in	decision	making;	and

•		Follow	ethical	standards	in	order	to	avoid	real	or	apparent	conflict	of	interest	between	Commissioners’	private	interests	
and the interests of BC Housing.

the standards of Conduct guide the conduct for the board, employees, consultants and contractors and suppliers.  
the policy is available on BC Housing’s website at www.bchousing.org.

governance
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shareholder’s letter of expectations

a key component of the governance framework is the shareholder’s Letter of expectations. the letter describes the rela-
tionship between BC Housing and the provincial government, and mandates direction from government to BC Housing. 
the shareholder’s Letter of expectations ensures a mutual understanding between the shareholder and BC Housing on 
governance issues, corporate mandate, core services, public policy issues, strategic priorities and performance expec-
tations.	It	is	reviewed	annually,	updated	as	required	and	signed	by	the	Chair	of	the	Board	of	Commissioners	and	by	the	
Minister of Forests and range and Minister responsible for Housing. 

as set out in the shareholder’s Letter of expectations, BC Housing’s priority is to fulfill the government’s commitment 
to meet the housing needs of British Columbians who are most in need. a copy of this Letter can viewed at www.bchousing.
org	(see	“About	BC	Housing”),	and	an	excerpt	is	displayed	below.	The	performance	expectations	set	out	in	the	Letter	are	 
integrated within and disclosed through BC Housing’s service planning and corporate planning frameworks. 

shareholder’s letter of exPeCtatioNs (exCerPt)

Within the 2007/08 budget confirmed for the Corporation, and the 2008/09 and 2009/10 budget targets and Ministry 
transfers as set out in the Corporation’s 2007/08 to 2009/10 service Plan, ensure effective planning for, and man-
agement and delivery of, housing programs and services by:

•		Working	in	partnership	with	provincial	health	authorities,	the	non-profit	and	private	sectors,	local	governments	
and	others	to	deliver	the	Independent	Living	BC	program;

•		Working	with	 other	 provincial	ministries	 and	health	 authorities	 to	 establish	 long-term	housing	 and	 support	 
services	to	respond	to	the	needs	of	homeless/at	risk	individuals;

•		Integrating	the	federal	social	housing	portfolio	with	the	provincial	social	housing	portfolio;

•		Supporting	Aboriginal	 capacity	 building	 in	 the	 area	 of	 housing	 and	 transferring	 administration	of	 additional	 
housing	units	to	the	Aboriginal	Housing	Management	Association;

•		Initiating	comprehensive	re-development	plans	for	appropriate	subsidized	housing	sites	to	further	the	objectives	
of	the	provincial	housing	strategy;

•		Improving	 access	 to,	 and	maximizing	 the	use	of,	 government-owned	public	 housing	 for	 those	with	 complex	 
housing	and	health	needs	through	initiatives	such	as	the	Seniors’	Supportive	Housing	Program;

•		Incorporating	 environmentally	 responsible	 construction	 and	management	 techniques	 into	 developments	 
whenever	possible;

•		Finding	 innovative	ways	 to	 deliver	 on	 its	mandate	 and	providing	 support	 for	 innovative	projects	 initiated	by	
others;	and

•	Increasing	the	number	of	year-round	emergency	shelter	beds.
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relatioNshiP to the ProviNCial reNtal housiNg CorPoratioN

the Provincial rental Housing Corporation (PrHC) was incorporated in 1973 under the Business Corporations Act and 
exists solely as BC Housing’s land-holding company. it holds provincially owned social housing properties, and leases 
residential properties to non-profit societies and co-operatives. as of March 31, 2008, PrHC held properties with an orig-
inal cost of $650 million.

the Minister responsible for Housing is the sole shareholder of PrHC. Because of its relationship with BC Housing, PrHC 
is administered by BC Housing. to ensure the appropriate governance links between the two entities, senior manage-
ment of BC Housing serve as PrHC’s Directors. PrHC does not employ any staff.

the financial statements for PrHC can be found on page 53 of this report.

the following chart highlights BC Housing’s key service areas and the responsibilities and accountabilities in each area. 
There	are	451	full-time-equivalent	staff	employed	across	the	Commission.

organizational Chart

minister of forests and range & minister responsible for housing
Honourable Rich Coleman

board of Commissioners
Brenda Eaton, Chair

Chief executive officer
Shayne Ramsay

oPeratioNal braNChes suPPort braNChes

operations

Vice President:  
Margaret McNeil

›   Provides access to  
subsidized housing

› 	Maintains	the	qual-
ity of existing social 
housing 

›  oversees the man-
agement of public 
housing and group 
homes

›  administers operat-
ing agreements of 
shelter providers, 
outreach program 
providers, non-profit 
housing societies  
and co-operatives

development services

Vice President:  
Craig Crawford

›  Facilitates the devel-
opment of housing 
options through the 
following programs:

		•	Independent	Living	BC
		•			Provincial	

Homelessness initiative
		•		Community	Partner-

ship initiative
		•			Aboriginal	Housing	

initiative
		•		Housing	Endowment	

Fund
		•		Seniors’	Supportive	

Housing

Corporate services   

Vice President and Chief 
Financial Officer:  
Dan Maxwell 

›  Provides operational  
services including 
finance, information 
systems, research and 
planning, legal and 
program analysis

›  Provides mortgage 
administration for  
BC Housing and the 
Provincial rental Hous-
ing Corporation

  
  

human resources

Executive Director:  
Agnes Ross

›  recruits and trains  
staff

›  Facilitates labour  
relations, negotiations, 
compensation, job 
evaluation, payroll, 
benefits management, 
employment	equity	
and multiculturalism

›  oversees occupational 
health and safety

Corporate  
Communications  

Executive Director:  
Susan Thom

›   Provides a broad 
range of internal and 
external commu-
nications services 
including commu-
nication strategies, 
media relations, 
issues management, 
housing events/
announcements, 
government and 
stakeholder relations, 
website management 
and publications
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the CoNtext

the vast majority of British Columbians are housed successfully in the private housing market, even with the rising cost 
of home ownership and rent in many urban centres. some households, however, are unable to find suitable housing in 
the private market. in most cases, households spending 50 per cent or more of their income on rent are considered to 
be in the worst case need, and at risk of economic eviction or homelessness. 

government-assisted housing in British Columbia is administered by BC Housing and targeted to lower-income house-
holds, many of which have complex housing and health needs. Providing assistance to those in crisis is an important 
component of our programs and services. the map below shows BC Housing’s service regions. using 2006 Census data, 
the tables show the general distribution of households paying 50 per cent or more of their income on rent and those 
assisted through the current inventory of subsidized housing units 
and rent supplements.

in total, 85,457 households in about 200 communities were assisted 
through BC Housing in 2007/08. some 800 housing providers – mostly 
non-profit societies and housing co-operatives – manage about 57,000 
units of subsidized housing and BC Housing manages 7,800 public 
housing units. an additional 20,370 low-income families and senior 
households receive portable rent supplements to pay rent in the 
private market through SAFER and the Rental Assistance Program.

Interior

Fraser Region

Vancouver Coastal Region

Vancouver Island

North

Housing for those in greatest need

vaNCouver Coastal regioN
total number of households   419,400
Households spending > 50% of  
their income on rent   23,300
Households assisted through  
subsidized housing  30,662

fraser regioN
total number of households   514,100
Households spending > 50% of  
their income on rent   18,200
Households assisted through  
subsidized housing  23,976

iNterior
total number of households   269,100
Households spending > 50% of  
their income on rent   8,700
Households assisted through  
subsidized housing  12,348

North
total number of households  100,300
Households spending > 50% of  
their income on rent   2,600
Households assisted through  
subsidized housing  4,425

vaNCouver islaNd
total number of households   297,800
Households spending > 50% of  
their income on rent   12,100
Households assisted through  
subsidized housing  14,046

total
total number of households   1,600,700
Households spending > 50% of  
their income on rent   64,900
Households assisted through  
subsidized housing  85,457
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BC Housing’s Role in the Housing Continuum 

the housing continuum extends from emergency shelter and housing for the homeless through to affordable rental 
housing and home ownership. the diagram below illustrates this continuum, including the portion that is government-
assisted with differing levels of support services. 

BC Housing’s role is to assist British Columbians in greatest need of affordable and appropriate housing so that they may 
have healthier futures. We are able to provide this assistance through options along the continuum including: emer-
gency shelter (as a gateway to housing), transitional, supportive and assisted living, independent social housing and 
rent assistance in the private market.

Where there are gaps in the housing continuum, they are addressed through the creation of new housing options or by 
adapting	existing	housing	to	better	meet	the	requirements	of	those	most	in	need.	And,	once	people	are	living	in	subsi-
dized housing, we want to ensure that they are safe and receive the supports they need to lead healthy lives.

INDEPENDENTDEPENDENT

HIGH MODERATE LOW

Level of Support Services

6,258 17,184 41,645 20,370

Emergency 
Shelter & Housing
for the Homeless

6,258 homeless 
individuals assisted 
including:
› 2,428 homeless 
 served nightly 
 in shelters
› 3,830 homeless 
 housed

$120.3 million

Transitional 
Supportive 
& Assisted Living

17,184 individuals 
assisted including:
› 5,866 people with
 special needs
› 11,318 frail seniors

$97.0 million

Independent 
Social 
Housing

41,645 households 
assisted including:
› 20,966 low-income
 seniors
› 17,095 low-income
 families
› 3,584 Aboriginal  
 families and  
 individuals

$271.9 million

Rent Assistance 
in the Private 
Market

20,370 households 
assisted including: 
› 15,604 seniors
› 4,766 families

$50.4 million

Private Market
Rentals

Home
Ownership

Government-Assisted Housing
(Accounts for almost 6% of the province’s total housing stock)

the Housing Continuum 
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Who We serve

in 2007/08, government helped 85,457 households across the province, with the majority of this assistance targeted to 
those who are most in need. in order to help people move along the continuum and out of emergency or transitional 
situations to more stable situations, a combination of housing and supports is needed.

Frail seniors, people at risk of homelessness, people with mental illness or physical disability, those with drug and alcohol 
addictions, and women with their children fleeing abusive relationships represent some of the groups in our society 
that	are	most	in	need.	They	need	more	than	a	roof	over	their	heads;	they	need	housing	with	support	services	in	order	
to maintain successful tenancies, lead healthier lives and participate more fully in their communities. other households, 
whose housing problems stem solely from low income, are being helped through rental assistance programs in the 
private rental housing market, where most already live.

affordable housing is a bridge that allows people to achieve greater stability in their lives and become more capable of 
moving away from government assistance.

iNdividuals who are homeless

•		Homelessness	 is	 a	 growing	 concern	 for	many	 communities	 throughout	 B.C.	 Some	 reports	 estimate	 the	 costs	 of	
homelessness to the health, social, and justice systems to be over $55,000 per person per year.

•		Challenges	to	finding	appropriate	housing	for	people	who	are	homeless	include	those	which	are	housing-related	(e.g.	
affordability, availability or suitability), as well as those that are related to a combination of life events including disabilities, 
health issues, addictions, social exclusion, joblessness or a breakdown of relationships.

frail seNiors aNd iNdividuals with sPeCial Needs  

•		The	number	of	senior-led	households	is	expected	to	increase	from	246,000	in	2001	to	over	652,000	by	2031,	putting	
pressure on social housing buildings. 

•		People	who	require	special-needs	housing	include	those	with	severe	physical	disabilities,	chronic	mental	illness,	those	
living with HiV/aiDs, drug and alcohol dependencies and women and children fleeing abusive situations. 

•		Frail	seniors	and	individuals	with	special	needs	require	a	range	of	support	services,	and	supportive	housing	allows	them	
to live independently.

aborigiNal iNdividuals aNd families  

•		More	than	28	per	cent	of	off-reserve	Aboriginal	households	are	in	core	housing	need	compared	to	15	per	cent	for	all	
non-aboriginal households. 

•	Aboriginal	people	are	disproportionately	represented	among	those	who	are	homeless.	

low-iNCome seNiors aNd families  

•		Approximately	64,900	households	in	British	Columbia	are	unable	to	find	housing	that	is	suitable	in	size	and	in	good	
repair without spending 50 per cent or more of their income on rent. adding to this challenge is the extremely low 
vacancy rate in many urban areas.
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How We serve British Columbians

every aspect of BC Housing’s business is centred on our clients. to best serve them, we have created relationships with 
key partners. Below are descriptions of how we do business in partnership.

PoliCy PartNers

the office of Housing and Construction standards, within the Ministry of Forests and range, is responsible for provincial 
housing policy, building policy, safety policy and the residential tenancy Branch. By working collaboratively, govern-
ment is able to ensure that housing policy is aligned with programs and services to improve access to safe and stable 
housing for all British Columbians.

delivery PartNers

Housing assistance is provided through a number of mechanisms including public, non-profit and co-operative housing, 
as well as through rent assistance to people living in the private rental market. BC Housing provides financial, adminis-
trative and technical support to its delivery partners, in addition to administering long-term operating agreements and 
the provision of housing subsidies. BC Housing’s role is one of stewardship and ensuring accountability.

serviCe PartNers

in responding to the needs of British Columbians, access to housing must often be combined with other support services  
(e.g. income support, health, education, employment and skills training). BC Housing has engaged in innovative service 
partnerships that integrate housing and support services. these service partnerships involve other levels of government, 
health authorities and service providers. 

CoNtributiNg PartNers

The	investment	required	to	create	new	housing	necessitates	a	partnership	model.	No	one	level	of	government	can	do	 
it alone. a public-private partnership model for the development of new housing combines funds from all levels of  
government and leverages private, non-profit and charitable sources. Municipal governments can contribute through 
expediting approval processes and offering reduced property taxes, as well as making land available for new housing. 
once built, funding for the ongoing delivery of government-subsidized housing comes from a number of different part-
ners including BC Housing, other provincial ministries and the federal government.

Delivery
Partners

Policy
Partners

Manage and
Oversee

British Columbians most in need

Maximize
Resources

Create Serve

WHO WE WORK WITH

WHAT WE DO

WHO WE SERVE

Contributing
Partners

Service
Providers

Key Relationships

This diagram illustrates BC Housing’s 
relationships with our key partners 
and how we work together to provide 
housing options. 
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strategic Context

PlaNNiNg CoNtext aNd Key strategiC issues 

success in meeting our goals, objectives, strategies and measures is influenced by many factors. the following is a summary  
of internal and external challenges and opportunities that influence BC Housing’s strategies and results. a risk-management 
approach is used to assess challenges and opportunities, and to determine the appropriate strategies for responding.

exterNal 
faCtors

ChalleNges oPPortuNities aNd  
strategiC resPoNses 

Pressures in  
the rental  
Housing Market

B.C.’s current housing environment adds to 
the challenges of housing need. Very few 
rental housing units are being built, and in 
our urban centres, rents are unaffordable for 
many people. additionally, the number of 
existing rental buildings is diminishing as 
property owners pursue redevelopment 
opportunities. 

BC Housing purchased additional single room 
occupancy (sro) hotels in 2007/08. these buildings 
were purchased to preserve and upgrade an 
important source of affordable rental housing stock 
for people at risk of homelessness. Work is underway 
to bring the buildings up to an acceptable standard 
so that people can feel safe and secure in this 
housing. BC Housing also preserved additional 
affordable housing stock with the purchase of 
private rental buildings. in total BC Housing has 
purchased 30 sro and rental buildings, protecting 
and upgrading over 1,400 units of existing afford-
able housing. 

rising  
Construction  
Costs

Construction costs are up by more than 40 
per cent over the last five years. the cost 
drivers include significant increases in the 
cost of materials and skilled labour short-
ages, resulting in both increased labour 
costs and delays in project completion. this 
puts pressure on the budgets of new 
projects that are being built.

BC Housing has continued to seek cost-effective 
solutions by bundling similar projects and pursuing 
alternative construction forms including modular 
housing.

aging social 
Housing Portfolio

Many of the buildings that make up the 
social housing portfolio are aging and their 
mortgages are beginning to expire. 
Maintenance and capital-replacement costs 
will need to be increased for some buildings 
in order to ensure compliance with current 
health and safety standards.

there is an opportunity to renovate these build-
ings to better meet the needs of tenants and/or 
to accommodate support services. some devel-
opments will benefit from new funding to con-
vert 750 units of social housing to supportive 
housing, responding to increases in demand 
for affordable housing with support services.

under-utilized 
Land on Housing 
sites

Many of the older social housing devel-
opments are located on large parcels of 
land in central locations that could poten-
tially accommodate more housing. 

Buildings that occupy under-utilized land are 
beginning to be redeveloped. Working in partner-
ship with the private and non-profit sectors, these 
lands can become mixed-income communities with 
subsidized housing more fully integrated into larger 
communities. the redevelopment process is 
underway for British Columbia’s first social housing 
development, Little Mountain. any proceeds from 
redevelopment of public housing will be reinvested 
back into affordable housing. as BC Housing moves 
forward on redevelopment initiatives, we will ensure 
that no current tenant will be left without housing 
assistance.
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exterNal 
faCtors

ChalleNges oPPortuNities aNd  
strategiC resPoNses 

not-in-My-Back-
Yard (niMBY) 

as BC Housing focuses on developing new 
housing for those most in need, strong 
opposition has emerged in some cases as a 
result of fear and uncertainty. this type of 
opposition,	referred	to	as	“Not-In-My-Back-
Yard”	(NIMBY),	creates	difficulties	in	
addressing homelessness.

BC Housing works with its partners to ensure that 
surrounding communities learn more about the 
developments and that the general public and local 
governments are able to manage opposition so that 
consensus can be more easily achieved to move 
projects forward. 

strong Demand  
for afford-
able Housing

the demand for affordable housing exceeds 
the supply of resources as indicated by the 
almost 14,000 applicants currently listed in 
The Housing Registry, BC Housing’s database 
of housing providers and applicants.

Housing resources must be allocated as effectively 
as possible to ensure that those in the greatest 
housing need are given priority. BC Housing has 
initiated strategies to improve access to available 
housing for individuals and families with complex 
housing and health needs.

rising number 
and Declining 
Health of indi-
viduals who 
are Homeless 

the challenge is to break the cycle of 
homelessness through outreach and 
supports, such that individuals can 
successfully move from the street and 
shelter system into stable housing.

new programs have been introduced to expand 
shelter operations, outreach programs, transi-
tional and supportive housing solutions as well as 
homeless rent supplements to break the cycle of 
homelessness. Harmonizing the housing portfo-
lios and finding administrative efficiencies between 
housing and shelter programs are key priorities. 

as part of the Premier’s task Force on Homelessness, 
Mental illness and addictions, BC Housing works 
with provincial ministries and health authorities to 
develop permanent, long-term housing and out-
reach strategies to respond to homelessness.

Labour supply, 
aging Demo-
graphics and 
internal Capacity

the shortage of capable labour and the 
potential loss of intellectual capital pose 
a risk to BC Housing’s ability to meet our 
commitment to excellence in client ser-
vice, project development and ensuring the 
quality	of	our	housing	portfolio.	As	well,	an	
aging population is changing the dynam-
ics of attracting skilled people at the same 
time as many employees are retiring or are 
becoming eligible to retire. in BC Hous-
ing’s current workforce, the percentage of 
employees who are eligible to retire will 
grow significantly over the next 10 years.

BC Housing is striving to recruit and retain skilled, 
creative, committed employees. We are ensuring an 
engaged workforce through our People strategy. 
Learning and growth and succession planning 
initiatives have been put into place to ensure we are 
well situated to meet our commitments today and 
in the future.

enhanced 
Federal-Provincial 
relationship

Participation from the federal government 
is needed to respond more effectively to 
growing demand for affordable housing.

the federal government is contributing $106 million 
to help address short-term pressures in the supply 
of affordable housing. this funding will flow to BC 
Housing until 2008/09. the funding will contribute 
to new housing under the Independent Living BC and 
the Provincial Homelessness Initiative programs.
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exterNal 
faCtors

ChalleNges oPPortuNities aNd  
strategiC resPoNses 

aboriginal  
Capacity Building

the proportion of aboriginal people who 
are homeless or in core housing need is 
higher than the incidence of need in the 
larger population.

BC Housing is collaborating with the aboriginal 
Housing Management association (aHMa) to work 
towards the successful transition and management 
of the federal aboriginal housing portfolio. BC 
Housing staff have been working with aHMa to 
share knowledge and technical expertise. this 
aboriginal self-management model for social 
housing is the first of its kind in Canada. 

sound social 
and environmen-
tal Practices

addressing the problem of climate change  
is a priority for British Columbia. the B.C. 
government has set out the challenge to 
make all government operations carbon 
neutral by 2010. government agencies have 
been called upon to demonstrate best 
practices and lead the way by corporate 
example. 

BC Housing is committed to reducing its environ-
mental impact and creating healthier homes and 
workplaces for tenants and employees. energy-effi-
ciency measures and sustainable practices are 
employed in our new construction projects, repair 
and improvements to existing buildings and 
day-to-day operations. BC Housing has aligned its 
targets for energy and greenhouse gas emission 
reduction with those of the government of British 
Columbia and is a recognized BC Hydro Power 
smart Partner. We are also working to ensure our 
projects contribute to sustainable community 
development.

Public-Private 
Partnerships (P3s)

Public-private partnerships can respond to 
local housing challenges and create 
additional housing units without the need 
for ongoing operating subsidies.

BC Housing has entered into a number of inno-
vative partnership initiatives with municipali-
ties, non-profit societies, the private sector and 
other housing partners. they are great oppor-
tunities for BC Housing to work with com-
munities to move projects forward faster.

effective 
Management 
strategies

BC Housing and housing providers share 
a common interest in establishing effec-
tive program management strategies that 
strive for innovation and harmonization.

BC Housing is actively engaged in identifying 
strategies to streamline and improve program 
administration, reduce costs and promote sustain-
ability. the Canada-B.C. social Housing agreement 
provides an opportunity to harmonize programs, 
simplify	reporting	requirements,	reduce	administra-
tive burdens and improve program effectiveness. as 
well, by creating incentives for housing providers to 
explore new ways of generating revenues or 
controlling costs, we can help housing providers 
take some of the pressure off their budgets. 

With the implementation of a new information 
technology system, we worked our way through a 
major business initiative to ensure our administra-
tive practices meet or exceed industry standards.

sector 
sustainability

BC’s social housing stock is supported by a 
large number of housing providers. about 
56 per cent of social housing in the prov-
ince is provided by the non-profit and 
co-operative housing sector. almost 50 
per cent of these providers are respon-
sible for single housing developments.

BC Housing is working with the BC non-Profit 
Housing association (BCnPHa) to ensure the sector 
remains robust. BC Housing and BCnPHa share 
common goals that promote greater resource and 
information sharing, as well as governance and 
administrative models to protect non-profit and 
co-operative housing for the long term.

strategic Context (continued)
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Report on Performance

this section sets out BC Housing’s Report on performance for 2007/08 based on targets established in  
the 2007/08 service plan. targets for 2008/09 to 2010/11 contained in the 2008/09 service plan are also shown 
for convenience. 

BC Housing’s performance Measurement Framework (pMF) provides strong linkages with government’s 
key strategies. We are focused on ensuring alignment with our business direction, and work to continually 
strengthen our reporting and measurement framework. 

the pMF is structured around four goals derived from our corporate priorities. An overview of our goals,  
objectives, measures, targets and results is shown on page 18. Measures include indicators of the effectiveness 
of various programs as well as satisfaction levels. performance results are presented along with historical 
results and benchmarked externally where possible. 

summary descriptions of our performance measures are contained in this section, while more detailed information  
can be found in the appendices. Detailed information regarding changes to goals, objectives and targets is 
contained in Appendix A: Changes in Reporting. Detailed information regarding data sources, methodology, 
and benchmarks is contained in Appendix B: Disclosure of Key Reporting Judgements. Both appendices can 
be found on our website at www.bchousing.org.
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BC Housing performance overview – 2007/08
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Core  
busiNess 
areas

goals objeCtives measures
05/06 
results

06/07 
results

07/08 
target

2007/08 results
08/09  
target

09/10  
target

10/11  
target

increased housing 
options

respond to gaps 
in the housing 
continuum

increasing housing options 

number of new units/beds created in  
priority areas 

1,583 2,472 941 2,437
target 
exceeded

1,405 1,053 199

number of new households assisted through 
rent assistance programs

new Measure 4,394 14,390 7,847
target not 
achieved

3,000 2,700 2,400

adapt existing stock  
to target resources to  
vulnerable households

number of existing units adapted to higher 
priority needs 

new Measure 500 550 674
target 
achieved

700 850 950

Maintaining and 
administering 
existing housing

Protect and 
manage existing 
housing for the 
long term

Maintain	the	quality	 
of existing assets

Percentage of clients reporting satisfaction 
with	the	quality	and	safety	of	their	housing

81% 77% 78% 78%
target 
achieved

78% 78% 78%

Percentage of social housing providers 
meeting financial and operational standards

new Measure 92% 90% 93%
target 
achieved

90% 90% 90%

Adequate	provisions	for	
future	requirements

ratio of replacement reserve contributions to 
actual expenditures

new Measure 1.52:1 1.51:1 1.40:1
target not 
achieved

1.39:1 1.31:1 1.30:1

Provide client 
services

Provide access to 
appropriate 
housing and 
services for 
vulnerable British 
Columbians 

ease of access to housing 

Percentage of new applicants reporting 
satisfaction with the process

92% 90% 75% 90%
target 
exceeded

75% 75% 75%

Percentage of nights where shelters are at  
full occupancy

new Measure 42% 50% or less 42%
target 
achieved

50% or less 50% or less 50% or less

available housing targeted 
to vulnerable residents

Percentage of clients belonging to priority 
groups in subsidized housing

84% 83% 86% 79%
target not 
achieved

84% 85% 86%

Delivering services 
cost-effectively

organizational 
excellence 

Financial and operating 
success

Controllable administration costs as  
percentage of program delivery costs 

new Measure 7.5% 10% or less 7.5%
target 
achieved 

10% or less 10% or less 10% or less

Per-square-foot	construction	costs new Measure Within 2.72% Within +-5% Within 4.73% 
target 
achieved

Within +-5% Within +-5% Within +-5%

High level of employee 
engagement

employee engagement index new Measure Top	quartile Top	quartile Top	quartile
target 
achieved

Top	quartile Top	quartile Top	quartile›
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Core  
busiNess 
areas

goals objeCtives measures
05/06 
results

06/07 
results

07/08 
target

2007/08 results
08/09  
target

09/10  
target

10/11  
target

increased housing 
options

respond to gaps 
in the housing 
continuum

increasing housing options 

number of new units/beds created in  
priority areas 

1,583 2,472 941 2,437
target 
exceeded

1,405 1,053 199

number of new households assisted through 
rent assistance programs

new Measure 4,394 14,390 7,847
target not 
achieved

3,000 2,700 2,400

adapt existing stock  
to target resources to  
vulnerable households

number of existing units adapted to higher 
priority needs 

new Measure 500 550 674
target 
achieved

700 850 950

Maintaining and 
administering 
existing housing

Protect and 
manage existing 
housing for the 
long term

Maintain	the	quality	 
of existing assets

Percentage of clients reporting satisfaction 
with	the	quality	and	safety	of	their	housing

81% 77% 78% 78%
target 
achieved

78% 78% 78%

Percentage of social housing providers 
meeting financial and operational standards

new Measure 92% 90% 93%
target 
achieved

90% 90% 90%

Adequate	provisions	for	
future	requirements

ratio of replacement reserve contributions to 
actual expenditures

new Measure 1.52:1 1.51:1 1.40:1
target not 
achieved

1.39:1 1.31:1 1.30:1

Provide client 
services

Provide access to 
appropriate 
housing and 
services for 
vulnerable British 
Columbians 

ease of access to housing 

Percentage of new applicants reporting 
satisfaction with the process

92% 90% 75% 90%
target 
exceeded

75% 75% 75%

Percentage of nights where shelters are at  
full occupancy

new Measure 42% 50% or less 42%
target 
achieved

50% or less 50% or less 50% or less

available housing targeted 
to vulnerable residents

Percentage of clients belonging to priority 
groups in subsidized housing

84% 83% 86% 79%
target not 
achieved

84% 85% 86%

Delivering services 
cost-effectively

organizational 
excellence 

Financial and operating 
success

Controllable administration costs as  
percentage of program delivery costs 

new Measure 7.5% 10% or less 7.5%
target 
achieved 

10% or less 10% or less 10% or less

Per-square-foot	construction	costs new Measure Within 2.72% Within +-5% Within 4.73% 
target 
achieved

Within +-5% Within +-5% Within +-5%

High level of employee 
engagement

employee engagement index new Measure Top	quartile Top	quartile Top	quartile
target 
achieved

Top	quartile Top	quartile Top	quartile
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Goal 1  Respond to gaps in the Housing Continuum

the measures and targets set out in this section report on BC Housing’s success in responding to gaps in the housing 
continuum and in creating an expanded range of choices for British Columbians in greatest need.

the Province is committed to ensuring that B.C.’s residents in greatest need receive priority for assistance. Part of this 
commitment is creating new units/beds on the supportive end of the housing continuum. For this reason, government 
has committed significant funding for the creation of new buildings in a cost-effective manner through programs such 
as ILBC, PHI and AHI.

We employ a number of strategies to achieve this goal. they include expanding the supply of existing units through the 
delivery of targeted housing programs in partnership with other levels of government as well as with key community 
and private-sector partners. We also adapt existing buildings to target resources to those in greatest need, and provide 
assistance to low-income seniors and families renting in the private market.
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measure:  Number of New uNits/beds Created iN Priority areas target exCeeded  

importance of the measure

this measure looks at BC Housing’s performance with 
respect to creating new units/beds on the support-
ive end of the continuum of housing through various 
housing programs. the ILBC, PHI, CPI and AHI pro-
grams add new units for priority groups such as frail 
seniors, aboriginal households, persons with physi-
cal and mental disabilities as well as individuals who 
are homeless, many of whom are dealing with mental 
illness, addictions, and other challenges.

Performance results 2007/08

in 2007/08, 2,437 new units were added to the existing 
inventory of subsidized housing. this includes 425 
units and 277 rent supplements under ILBC, 1,552 
units under PHI (including the sro purchases), 103 
units under CPI, 10 units created under aHi and 5 
units built under the Provincial Housing Program.  there were also 65 shelter beds created. all of these units were added 
in more than 50 communities across the province as a means of increasing the range of housing options available for 
vulnerable households. the 2010/11 target of 199 units is based on the completion of units under existing funding  
programs. the target will be revised as new resources in future budgets may increase. 

measure:  Number of existiNg uNits adaPted to higher Priority Needs target aChieved

importance of the measure

this measure looks at BC Housing’s success in ensur-
ing that those most in need receive priority for hous-
ing assistance through the conversion, adaptation or 
re-targeting of existing social housing units. 

Performance results 2007/08

in 2007/08, 674 existing housing units were adapted 
to better meet the needs of priority groups. three 
hundred thirty (330) individuals with a mental ill-
ness or alcohol and drug addiction were assisted 
through the Health Services Program. Women with 
children fleeing abuse were assisted through  
BC Housing’s Priority Placement Program. in addition, 
new partnerships were established with local health 
authorities across the province, allowing for an addi-
tional 93 units to be targeted to individuals with spe-
cific housing and support needs. the target for 2007/08 was 550. establishing new partnerships in the community has 
been a priority which resulted in a greater than expected number of units being adapted. 
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measure: Number of New households assisted through    target Not aChieved 
reNt assistaNCe Programs   

importance of the measure

this measure looks at the success of BC Housing’s rent assis-
tance programs (SAFER and the Rental Assistance Program) in 
improving access of low-income households to affordable 
rental housing. rent assistance programs assist families and 
seniors who do not have enough income to find housing in 
the private market by helping to bridge the gap between 
what a household can afford to pay and market rents. rent 
assistance programs provide greater housing choices in the 
private market.  

Performance results 2007/08

a system for tracking and reporting on this measure was put 
into place in 2006/07. as of March 31, 2008 there were a total 
of 7,847 new households assisted through SAFER and the 
Rental Assistance Program. this includes 4,224 low-income 
families and 3,623 senior households, which is below the tar-
geted 14,390 new households, primarily due to the lower than 
anticipated take-up of the Rental Assistance Program. as a result, changes to the Rental Assistance Program were imple-
mented effective april 2008, to expand the eligibility criteria and achieve higher take-up levels. over 20,370 house-
holds	currently	receive	rental	assistance;	by	the	end	of	2008/09,	it	is	expected	that	assistance	will	be	provided	to	more	
than 30,000 households. new household assisted targets decline in future years as most eligible families will have been  
registered in earlier years.

future direCtioNs

BC Housing will continue to target resources to those in the greatest housing need in keeping with the directions set 
out in the provincial housing strategy, Housing Matters BC. this will include targeting resources to ensure that the home-
less have access to stable housing with integrated support services, as well as ensuring that those who are vulnerable 
receive priority for assistance. 

in addition to new supported housing, in 2007/08, the Province purchased additional single room occupancy (sro) 
hotels and some existing apartment buildings. these buildings were purchased to preserve and upgrade an important 
source of affordable housing in order to stabilize people, and prevent homelessness. 

the demand for supportive housing also continues to increase as our population ages. to enable people to remain living 
in their communities longer, while addressing this increased demand, a new program was introduced. Seniors’ Supportive 
Housing provides $45 million over four years to upgrade/convert up to 750 social housing units to supportive housing 
units, primarily for lower-income seniors. During 2007/08 196 conversions of these units were completed. 

Future strategies will also create new housing to better meet the needs of aboriginal families and individuals living off reserve.  
BC Housing will work with the aboriginal community to complete construction of 292 new units in 10 communities 
across the province under the Federal off-reserve aboriginal Housing trust.

goal 1  Respond to gaps in the Housing Continuum (continued)
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Goal 2  protect and Manage existing Housing for the long term

the existing portfolio of social housing represents an important asset for addressing local housing needs. it is also an  
important element in achieving the government’s vision of building the best system of support for people with disabilities, 
those with special housing needs, children at risk and seniors. through maintaining high building and property mainte-
nance	standards,	we	can	provide	good	quality	housing	as	well	as	protect	the	taxpayers’	investments	in	social	housing.	
This	housing	also	contributes	to	a	high	quality	of	life	for	residents	and	to	the	social	fabric	of	local	communities.

the measures set out in this section focus on our success in delivering value to our clients, our shareholder and local 
communities across the province through the careful management of existing resources. this is accomplished through 
various strategies such as working with the non-profit and co-operative housing sector to ensure that key financial and 
operating	standards	are	met,	as	well	as	ensuring	that	adequate	provisions	are	in	place	for	meeting	future	building	re-
quirements.	Client	feedback	also	plays	an	important	role	in	providing	the	assurance	that	existing	management	practices	
are achieving positive results.
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measure: PerCeNtage of ClieNts rePortiNg satisfaCtioN  target aChieved 
with the Quality aNd safety of their housiNg 

importance of the measure

Feedback from tenants living in public housing is obtained 
through an annual survey. the results help us to determine 
whether tenants are satisfied with their housing and receiv-
ing the services and support they need. Year-over-year results 
are analyzed across developments and client groups, thereby 
helping to provide important insight that can be used to 
strengthen and improve the services we provide.

Performance results 2007/08

in 2007/08, 78% of tenants living in housing managed by  
BC Housing reported that they were satisfied or very satisfied 
with their overall housing situation. the results are based on 
the	 responses	 received	 to	 the	question,	“How	 satisfied	 are	
you	with	your	overall	housing	situation?”	which	 is	 included	
as part of an annual survey. approximately 3,340 individuals 
responded to the survey in 2007/08, representing an overall 
response rate of 46%. 

measure: PerCeNtage of soCial housiNg Providers meetiNg   target aChieved  
fiNaNCial aNd oPeratioNal staNdards 

importance of the measure

this measure ensures social housing is well-managed, well-
maintained, and protected for the long term through finan-
cial and operational reviews. the operational review process is 
based upon site and building audits designed to assess housing 
provider performance in the following key areas: maintenance 
and	building	inspections;	financial	management;	resident	man-
agement;	information	and	records	management;	and	human	
resource management. a score is assigned based on the assess-
ment and appropriate follow-up actions are taken.

Performance results 2007/08

the high target provides the assurance that the existing stock 
is well-managed and well-maintained and that problems are 
being addressed. in 2007/08, 93% of housing providers were 
meeting an acceptable standard. Where standards are not 
being met, a management team is put in place to assist the 
individual housing providers. 

goal 2  protect and Manage existing Housing for the long term (continued)
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measure:  ratio of rePlaCemeNt reserve CoNtributioNs target Not aChieved 
to aCtual exPeNditures 

importance of the measure

a replacement reserve is money set aside to refurbish 
or replace building components (such as roofs and 
appliances) that wear out over the life of a building. 
While the ultimate test is whether sufficient funds 
are available when the refurbishment is needed, an 
important interim test is whether sufficient money 
is set aside to cover a building’s expected expenses 
over its lifetime. 

the reserve contribution/expenditure ratio changes 
with the age of the buildings. the annual contribu-
tion stays the same, based on a life costing model, 
but the older the building, the more expenditure 
is	required	to	maintain	it.	Hence,	in	the	early	life	of	
a building, the ratio is high because contributions 
exceed expenditures. similarly, as the building ages, 
the ratio falls as surplus funds are drawn down to 
meet the higher costs of an older building. the targeted ratio of 1.51:1 for 2007/08 means that for every $1.51 contrib-
uted to the replacement reserve, $1.00 will be spent on maintenance. 

Performance results 2007/08

For	2007/08,	the	ratio	of	contributions	is	equal	to	1.40.1.	Although	this	ratio	is	appropriate	for	the	age	and	quality	of	the	
non-profit portfolio, it is lower than the target of 1.51:1. the lower ratio is partly due to the integration of the older fed-
eral social housing portfolio into the provincial portfolio. in addition, housing providers were encouraged in using their 
replacement reserves to undertake building envelope repairs, resulting in lower replacement reserves. 

under the current formula, annual contributions to individual reserve funds are greater than the expenditures and the reserve 
balances will continue to grow. over time, it is expected that the ratio will continue to fall and in some cases even drop below 
one as housing providers draw down their reserves in order to meet the higher costs of maintaining older housing stock. 

future direCtioNs

existing building and unit audits, as well as third party studies, suggest that the current condition of our social housing 
buildings	 is	adequate.	As	 the	portfolio	ages,	 redevelopment,	 regeneration	and	 retrofit	 initiatives	may	be	 required	 to	
optimize the use of these assets to better serve the needs of tenants. 

the transfer of the administrative responsibility for the federal social housing portfolio in 2006/07 continues to provide 
opportunities for the harmonization of existing programs, and efforts will be made to generate efficiencies and create 
additional capacity at key points along the housing continuum.

over the longer term, BC Housing will continue to explore cost-effective and client focused strategies that will not only add 
to the existing inventory of units, but also continue to preserve and maintain the existing stock over the long term.
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Goal 3   provide Access to Appropriate Housing and services  

for Vulnerable British Columbians

this goal is about making a difference in the lives of families and individuals in need by ensuring that limited housing 
resources are used as effectively as possible. the most acute housing need is found among low-income households  
facing a combination of challenges. access to stable housing is important in enabling vulnerable families and individuals 
to move toward self-reliance, independence and opportunity.

the existing inventory of subsidized housing plays a critical role in ensuring that vulnerable British Columbians have ac-
cess to the services and supports that they need. From emergency shelters to longer-term, supported living, BC Housing 
is committed to supporting and assisting individuals and families move toward greater independence.

the measures under this goal focus on two key objectives: ease of access to housing, and ensuring that available housing 
resources are targeted to those in greatest need. this includes ensuring that individuals or households with special hous-
ing needs will be given priority access to subsidized housing. to accomplish this, we are employing strategies to better 
understand: i) applicant and tenant needs as they relate to health and social supports through the applicant eligibility 
review, ii) physical building characteristics needed to better match applicants to appropriate units, and iii) the best use 
for each social housing development with respect to the level of support services available to tenants. 
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measure:  PerCeNtage of New aPPliCaNts rePortiNg target exCeeded 
satisfaCtioN with the ProCess  

importance of the measure

this measure allows BC Housing to view our success 
from an applicant perspective and enables us to 
assess the degree to which applicants are receiv-
ing the information they need when applying for 
housing assistance. it is an important customer-
feedback mechanism designed to strengthen and 
improve our business processes.

Performance results 2007/08

this measure reports on the percentage of applicants 
indicating they are either satisfied or very satisfied 
with the application process including the informa-
tion they received and the assistance provided through 
BC Housing. in 2007/08, 90% of applicants were sat-
isfied with the process, exceeding the target. 

Looking ahead, we are considering adjustments to this 
measure in consideration of the significant difference between the target and actual results. results will be monitored and 
alternative approaches considered including possible revisions to the survey methodology and/or target adjustments.

measure:  PerCeNtage of Nights where shelters  target aChieved 
are at full oCCuPaNCy 

importance of the measure

this measure looks at whether we are achieving 
an optimal level of occupancy within emergency 
shelters while at the same time providing those in 
immediate emergency housing need with access to 
the	services	and	supports	that	they	require.	Emer-
gency shelters are often an important point of access 
or gateway from temporary shelter to a point fur-
ther along the housing continuum. this measure 
reports on the capacity of the emergency shelter 
system and the ability of those who are homeless 
to access one of the 2,428 shelter beds under the 
province’s Emergency Shelter Program.   

Performance results 2007/08

the number of nights where shelters were at full 
capacity was 42% in 2007/08. shelter space should 
be well used (i.e. high occupancy rate over the year) 
but minimize instances where they are at full capacity and must turn people away.
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measure: PerCeNtage of ClieNts beloNgiNg to Priority target Not aChieved 
grouPs iN subsidized housiNg 

importance of the measure

in keeping with directions set out in the provincial housing 
strategy Housing Matters BC, this measure allows us to define 
our success in ensuring that those in greatest need receive 
priority assistance for housing. For the purposes of this mea-
sure, low-income or frail seniors, persons with physical or 
mental disabilities, those with mental illness, women and 
children who have experienced domestic violence, those 
facing alcohol and drug addiction challenges, aboriginal 
families and individuals, and those who are homeless or at 
risk of homelessness are considered to be among those in 
greatest housing need.

Performance results 2007/08

as of March 31, 2008, 79% of all households receiving hous-
ing assistance were within one of the identified priority groups, which was less than the target of 86%. However, the 
number of new subsidized housing units for priority groups increased by 2,437 units (4%) in 2007/08 as a result of new 
units delivered through PHI, ILBC and AHI, and through the adaptation of existing units.

this increase in new priority group units is not reflected in the overall percentage for two reasons. First, the total unit 
count was downwardly adjusted as a result of a data verification process in 2007/08, primarily within the federal social 
housing portfolio that was transferred to the province. some priority group units were double counted or incorrectly 
categorized. the verification and correction process resulted in an overall decrease in percentage of clients belonging 
to priority groups by just over 1%.

the second reason the actual unit increase was not reflected in the overall percentage relates to the inclusion of the 
Rental Assistance Program and SAFER. this has been identified as a flaw in the original methodology as these are private 
market units targeted to low-income individuals not necessarily in need of other supports. as such, it was determined 
that both programs will be removed from this measure in the 2008/09 service Plan. Performance of these programs is 
captured in a separate measure as part of goal 1 (see page 22). For 2007/08 however, the effect of including the family 
Rental Assistance Program was an increase the total universe of housing by 4,766. if the Rental Assistance Program had 
been excluded from this measure, our result would have been 84%.

future direCtioNs

ensuring that those in greatest need have access to housing and support services will continue to be a priority as key 
initiatives have been put into place to enable BC Housing to better serve priority groups in the public housing stock.

recognizing that access to safe and affordable housing is a critical step in helping those who are homeless, the shelter 
Capacity and Program review was completed in 2007. in addition, the success of the Homeless Outreach Program secured 
more resources to enhance shelter capacity and expand and enhance the outreach program. these services help address 
homelessness and to ensure that individuals who are homeless gain access to the services and supports that they need 
to change their situation. implementing these strategies to break the cycle of homelessness will represent an important 
area of focus going forward. a new measure to monitor success in this area will be developed in 2008/09.

goal 3   provide Access to Appropriate Housing and services  

for Vulnerable British Columbians (continued)
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Goal 4   organizational excellence

Providing cost-effective solutions and value for money is central to BC Housing’s success in building and maintaining a 
sustainable housing system. 

the measures set out in this section are about ensuring that we deliver the best possible services in a cost-effective and 
competent manner. this includes continuing to identify organizational and operational efficiencies, as well as ensuring that 
we have the appropriate structures and processes in place to control costs and manage risks. the goal of organizational 
excellence also includes BC Housing’s role in providing environmental leadership in the housing sector by setting targets 
to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, and ensuring our projects contribute to sustainable community development. 

our strategies for organizational excellence build on the skills, energy, talent and dedication of the staff who work at  
BC Housing. We will foster a culture of innovation and learning by working to build and maintain a high level of employee 
engagement.	BC	Housing	has	made	significant	 investments	 in	putting	an	effective	“People	Strategy”	 in	place	across	
the Commission. the implementation of this strategy plays an important role in our success in leadership development, 
growth and learning, employee wellness and succession planning.
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measure: CoNtrollable admiNistratioN Costs as a  target aChieved 
PerCeNtage of Program delivery Costs  

importance of the measure

this is a standard financial measure that assesses the effi-
ciency of BC Housing’s management practices by compar-
ing the percentage of controllable administration costs to 
program delivery costs. 

Performance results 2007/08

a target of 10% was set to ensure that BC Housing main-
tains a high level of performance in controlling administra-
tion costs. a benchmarking study completed in 2006/07 
showed that BC Housing had one of the lowest cost pro-
files across all organizations involved in the study at 7.5%. 
the results for 2007/08 indicate that BC Housing continues 
to achieve a high level of performance with 7.5% of admin-
istration costs as a per cent of program delivery costs. the 
results are benchmarked against the performance of hous-
ing providers in other jurisdictions.

measure: Per-sQuare-foot CoNstruCtioN Costs target aChieved

importance of the measure

This	measure	benchmarks	the	per-square-foot	construction	
cost of new housing developments with comparable devel-
opments in the private sector. this is an important measure 
of the cost-effectiveness of our development practices within 
the broader residential construction industry.

Performance results 2007/08

the results for 2007/08 compared a sample of seven non-
profit developments with ten private market developments, 
as well as industry data. this data showed that BC Housing’s 
per	square	foot	construction	costs,	which	averaged	$151.29	
per	square	foot,	were	within	4.73%	of	the	costs	reflected	in	
industry data. this result shows that BC Housing is achieving costs that are comparable with the market and demonstrate 
value-for-money. this is an important measure as there is a significant level of volatility in the current housing construction 
industry with rising costs in materials, as well as a shortage of skilled labour, having an impact on results.

goal 4   organizational excellence (continued)
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measure: emPloyee eNgagemeNt iNdex  target aChieved

importance of the measure

BC Housing recognizes the critical role that its 
employees play in its organizational success. 
employee engagement is a productivity indicator, 
based on employee satisfaction and motivation.  
a focus on employee engagement fosters an  
environment of greater creativity, innovation, 
organizational excellence and customer service. a 
significant contributor to an engaged workforce is 
access to leadership, learning and growth opportu-
nities, which serve to meet business objectives as 
well as the personal aspirations of employees.

the measure is based on an annual survey that gath-
ers feedback from staff on different aspects of their work environment. the survey is designed to gauge the extent to which  
BC Housing has been successful in building a culture of employee engagement and to identify opportunities for improve-
ment. results are benchmarked with other employers through the use of standard industry survey instruments.

Performance results 2007/08

in January 2008, 72% of staff participated in a survey, up 5% over last year, and the results placed BC Housing in the top 
quartile	of	comparable	employers.	It	is	clear	that	employees	are	engaged,	and	the	results	of	the	10	benchmark	questions	
improved by 4% over the previous year. results overall were positive: over 80% of respondents feel they understand the 
goals and objectives of BC Housing, and would recommend BC Housing as a good place to work. 

the target is set to ensure that employee engagement continues to be an important focus within the organization and 
is supported by the development and implementation of a three-year People strategy. 

future direCtioNs

BC Housing’s focus on customer service, organizational excellence and innovation enables us to effectively deliver on 
our core business areas and key goals, and ultimately to support the provincial housing strategy Housing Matters BC. our 
continued focus on the multi-year People strategy is a critical element in realizing this vision.

in 2008/09 BC Housing will begin reporting on reduction in greenhouse gas emissions from activities in offices and public housing 
buildings, demonstrating our vision of becoming a leader in environmental sustainability in the social housing sector.

Looking for new and better ways to use existing housing buildings, reduce greenhouse gas emissions, control costs 
and streamline and improve program administration are all important parts of this goal. Central to these strategies are 
innovations in research and information technology that support continuous business improvement.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

2007/08 was another record setting year for BC Housing. More households were served and more resources were invested 
in affordable housing programs than ever before in the 40 year history of BC Housing. the Commission’s revenues increased 
by	8	per	cent	($42	million)	and	improved	its	ability	to	provide	affordable,	safe,	quality	housing	to	B.C.	residents	most	in	
need. this increase in resources was largely comprised of:

•		$58	million	to	offset	the	cost	of	construction	of	new	units	built	under	the Provincial Homeless Initiative, the Aboriginal 
Housing Initiative, and the Independent Living BC program;

•	$32	million	to	acquire	single	room	occupancy	hotels	and	apartment	buildings;

•		$28	million	for	enhanced	emergency	shelters,	homeless	outreach	and	the	impacts	of	inflation;

•		$14	million	for	rent	assistance	for	low	income	working	families	under	the Rental Assistance Program;

•	$6	million	in	higher	tenant	rent	revenue;

•		$6	million	for	the	conversion	of	independent	social	housing	to	supportive	housing	under	the	Seniors’ Supportive Housing  
program;	and

•		$5	million	for	the	administration	of	federal	social	housing	under	the	Social	Housing	Agreement.

offsetting the above increases were the one-time impacts of the prior year contributions for single room occupancy 
hotels and apartment building purchases ($51 million) and federal housing trust funds ($56 million).

oPeratioNal overview – 2007/08 aCtuals

fuNdiNg 
Program  
exPeNditures

serviCe  
alloCatioN

households  
served

Provincial government 
$319.9 M

emergency shelter and  
Housing for the Homeless 
$120.3 M

emergency shelter  
and Housing for the 
Homeless 
6,258 units

Homeless 
6,258 households

Federal government 
$141.3 M

transitional supported  
and assisted Living 
$97.0 M

transitional supported 
and assisted Living 
17,184 units

special needs 
5,866 households

tenant rent 
$35.7 M

independent social  
Housing 
$271.9 M

independent social  
Housing 
41,645 units

aboriginal 
3,584 households

Provincial Partnering  
Ministries 
$31.8 M

rent assistance in the  
Private Market 
$50.4 M

rent assistance in the  
Private Market 
20,370 units

seniors 
47,888 households

other 
$11.1 M

Low-income Families 
21,861 households

total revenues total expenditures total units total households served

$539.8 m $539.6 m 85,457 85,457
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL RESULTS AND BUDGET PROJECTIONS – 2003/04 TO 2010/11
 (in thousands of dollars)

*    In 2007/08 this includes funding of $319.9 million provided directly by the provincial government to BC Housing, plus $31.8 million 
provincial funding provided through other provincial partnering ministries.

**  This includes tenant rent and revenue from other sources.

In 2007/08, total provincial spending through BC Housing was $352 million, an increase of 10 per cent per cent over the 
$319 million spent in 2006/07. This increase was targeted at our residents most in need by expanding the supply of pro-
vincially administered housing serving frail seniors, homeless at risk families and individuals, and through rent assistance 
for low income working families. 

2003/04 2004/05 2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 2007/08 BUDGET YEAR 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11
ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE VARIANCE FORECAST FORECAST FORECAST

Revenues

Provincial Share * 157,831      200,274      318,644    351,690 328,271      23,419 33,046        383,030 319,719      319,924      

Federal Share 90,237       102,904       135,852     141,270    139,755      1,515 5,418       139,616      139,137      137,851      
Other ** 35,703       39,944       43,044     46,802     37,078        9,724 3,758          40,974 41,709       42,458 

Total Revenues 283,771     343,122      497,540    539,762   505,104     34,658 42,222        563,620     500,565      500,233      

Expenditures

Non Profit & Cooperative 
Housing 183,505      217,550      369,149    384,923    317,769      67,154 15,774        357,304      303,947      307,526     

Public-Housing 55,033       68,287       54,305     59,752     65,700        (5,948) 5,447        83,817 75,049        74,183        

Rent Supplement Assistance 24,571       25,457       43,337     60,211     89,013        (28,802) 16,874            78,851        77,901        74,664        

Administration 20,595       31,760       30,643     34,743     32,622        2,121 4,101        43,648        43,668        43,860       

                                                283,704 343,054 497,434 539,629 505,104 34,525 42,196 563,620 500,565 500,233     

Excess of revenue over 
expenditures  67              68             107           133 -            - -             - 

Net Assets  1,075       1,143       1,249     1,382             

151,365

91,498 
35,897 

278,760

179,753

52,870 

25,919 

20,146 

278,688

72 

1,008 

--

- - -             - --

Management Discussion and analysis (continued)
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assets aNd liabilities

total assets were largely unchanged in 2007/08. an increase in cash and short term investments (up $14 million) offset 
an	equal	decline	in	the	amount	due	from	the	Canada	Mortgage	and	Housing	Corporation.	At	year	end,	BC	Housing	held	
$107 million in cash and short term investments (up 15 per cent compared to the prior year). in addition, prepaid expenses 
and housing subsidies increased by about $4 million over the prior year. Prepaid subsidies were higher because BC Hous-
ing now funds more housing projects with the devolution of the federal social housing projects to BC Housing last year. 
Construction loans to housing projects declined by about $3 million compared to the prior year. this decline is a normal 
fluctuation in the amount of construction underway at the year end date.

BC Housing enjoyed a positive cash position throughout the year. this allowed BC Housing to keep borrowings from the 
Provincial treasury at a minimum and reduce interest expense by 98 per cent (down by $2.2 million compared to the 
prior year). as happened last year, BC Housing’s cash position benefited by a number of transactions in the last few months 
of the fiscal year:

•		$20	million	was	received	from	the	Ministry	of	Employment	and	Income	Assistance	for	the	purchase	of	Single	Room	
Occupancy	hotels	and	apartment	buildings	by	the	PRHC;	and

•		$26	million	was	received	from	the	Province	immediately	before	year	end	for	2008/09	first	month	expenditures	occurring	
in april 2008.  

accounts payable and accrued liabilities increased by 41 per cent (about $10 million) over the prior year. this increase is 
reflective of the higher volume of activity to repair and maintain the public housing stock and to operate housing programs. 
grants received in advance of construction increased by 56 per cent ($29 million) as a result of the receipt of federal trust 
funds for new housing to be built under the Provincial Homelessness Initiative and the Aboriginal Housing Initiative.

the amount due to PrHC declined by 39 per cent ($26 million) because the purchases of hotels and apartment buildings 
was smaller this year than last year. 

PrHC’s statement of Financial Position shows the related impact of the building purchases. PrHC’s investment in proper-
ties has increased by $82 million for the hotel and apartment building purchases. overall, PrHC’s total assets increased 
by about 10 per cent or $56 million when compared to the prior year. 

PRHC’s	Statement	of	Financial	Position	was	changed	this	year	to	replace	shareholder’s	equity	with	net	assets.	Generally	
accepted accounting principles prefer the presentation of net assets for non-profit organizations. net assets are  
considered more meaningful for the reader in describing the resources the Corporation has available for carrying out its 
activities in the future.

reveNues

BC Housing received total revenues of $540 million in 2007/08, an increase of 8 per cent over the prior year. the chart on 
page 36 shows the change in revenue over the last ten years. Provincial contributions have almost tripled over this period 
which is mostly attributable to the construction of an average of almost 1,500 new affordable housing units each year. 
Federal contributions have almost doubled over the last ten years largely because of the devolution of federal social 
housing administration, building envelope repair costs and the impact of inflation on operating costs.

Provincial contributions increased by $33 million in 2007/08 or 10 per cent more than the budget and the prior year. this 
increase was the result of the transfer of funding for the purchase of hotels and apartment buildings, the cost of construc-
tion of new units under housing programs, and the conversion of social housing to supportive housing for seniors.



■  36  BC Housing AnnuAl RepoR t  2007 |  08     ■     37

through CMHC, total contributions from federal subsidies for 
2007/08 were $141 million, an increase of 4 per cent over the 
prior year and about $1 million above budget. the increase 
was the result of greater building envelope repair activity. the 
above budget result was possible because BC Housing was 
able to access funds set aside in the prior year under the social 
Housing agreement.

tenant rent revenue increased by $6 million (20 per cent above 
budget and the prior year). the increase resulted from the 
recently added hotel and apartment buildings as well as from 
the $50/month increase in basic shelter supplement for income 
assistance recipients. sundry revenue declined by 16 per cent 
over the prior year largely as a result of lower investment 
returns on short term investments.

Program exPeNditures 

total expenditures for 2007/08 were $540 million, an increase 
of 8 per cent over the prior year and budget. the $42 million 
increase was primarily due to the construction of new afford-
able	housing	under	housing	programs,	the	acquisition	of	hotels	
and apartments, the conversion of social housing to support-
ive housing for seniors and the transfer of administration of 
devolved federal social housing under the social Housing 
agreement. total expenditures above budget were possible 
as a result of contributions from the Ministry of employment 
and income assistance for hotel and apartment purchases 
and contributions from the Province for the construction and 
conversion of social housing.

subsidy payments to non-profit and co-op housing providers and to individuals comprise 71 per cent of all costs and 
continue to be the largest component of BC Housing’s budget. total subsidies and rental assistance payments to indi-
viduals increased by 6 per cent over the prior year. this increase was the result of newly completed non-profit housing 
projects, improvements made to the Rental Assistance Program	and	more	families	qualifying	for	rental	assistance.	

the chart on page 37 shows BC Housing’s expenditures over the past ten years. total expenditures have increased about 
two and a half times. Housing subsidy payments to non-profit and cooperative housing providers and to individuals have 
almost tripled, rising from $129 million in 1998/99 to $382 million in 2007/08. During this time period, BC Housing devel-
oped almost 15,000 new affordable housing units. as well, enhancements to the SAFER and the Rental Assistance Program 
have	increased	the	average	benefits	received	and	expanded	the	number	of	people	qualifying	for	the	programs.	The	intro-
duction of the Rental Assistance Program for low income working families in october 2006 heralded a new social program 
to improve the lives and housing conditions of the working poor and their children. in the first seventeen months, this 
program has already helped about 4,800 families. 

Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
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the chart below also shows that building repair and mainte-
nance	costs	have	nearly	quadrupled	over	the	decade,	rising	
from $19 million in 1998/99 to $69 million in 2007/08.  
BC Housing’s expenditures for modernization and improve-
ment ensure that the existing housing stock is protected and 
managed for the long term. in 2007/08, $34 million was spent 
on modernization and improvement (up 42 per cent over 
the prior year), $25 million was spent on building envelope 
repairs (down 6 per cent from the prior year) and $10 million 
was spent on minor maintenance (up 16 per cent over the 
prior year). 

BC Housing’s statement of operations shows that operating 
expenses increased by 60 per cent this year, rising from $14 
million last year to $23 million this year. this increase is attrib-
utable to higher spending on information technology, adver-
tising of new programs, and consulting costs necessary to 
manage the expansion of programs and services in recent 
years as well as the transfer of federal housing stock under the 
social Housing agreement. Building mortgage costs, utility 
costs	and	property	taxes	all	increased	due	to	the	acquisition	
of hotel and apartment buildings.
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maNagiNg risK

BC Housing uses an enterprise-wide risk-management approach to identify and manage risks. all key operating depart-
ments determine risks, challenges, and opportunities. risk-management strategies are then employed that balance cur-
rent and future market and budget pressures with timing and implementation strategies. BC Housing’s executive meets 
quarterly	to	review	the	enterprise-wide	risk	registry	and	ensure	that	appropriate	risk	treatment	plans	are	in	place.	The	Audit	
and risk Management Committee of the Board approves annually a risk-based master audit plan for the Commission and 
meets	quarterly	to	review	the	results	of	all	internal	audits	completed	since	the	last	meeting.

Key risKs issue/CoNseQueNCes results duriNg 2006/07

Mortgage /  
interest rate 
increase

71% of BC Housing’s budget is paid in 
subsidies to housing providers with 
mortgage principal and interest payments 
forming more than 60% of the housing 
providers’ operating costs. 

the mortgages administered by BC Housing 
now total about $3 billion.

a 1% increase above the budgeted 
mortgage rate increases housing subsidies 
by about $4.8 million in 2009/10.

BC Housing continued to bulk tender mortgages 
during 2007/08. However, turmoil in the financial 
markets resulted in significant increases in the rates 
bid (as compared to the average 50 basis points 
over the benchmark government of Canada bond 
that BC Housing achieved in the past). Conse-
quently,	BC	Housing	has	chosen	to	hold	mortgages	
internally while the financial markets stabilize.  
as well, BC Housing has solicited proposals from 
lenders for the exclusive right to meet all of  
BC Housing’s mortgage needs for an entire year.

Construction 
cost increases

BC Housing had about $350 million in 
construction activity under way this fiscal year.

Market influences including material costs, 
availability of skilled labour and insurance 
costs have caused construction prices to rise 
between 1% and 2% per month.

 a $10,000 per-unit construction cost 
increase	equals	annual	provincial	subsidy	
requirements	of	$0.9	million	in	2009/10.	

BC Housing has publicly tendered construction 
projects in 2007/08. Cost increases were limited by 
bundling similar projects, establishing eligibility 
rosters and pursuing alternative construction forms 
including modular construction.

Capital asset 
repairs

As	the	public	housing	stock	ages,	it	requires	
significant repairs to maintain health, safety 
and liveability.

BC Housing has developed a long term plan to address 
the	on-going	maintenance	requirements	and	also	
pursue opportunities to complete energy efficiency 
upgrades. as well, BC Housing has identified public 
housing sites with redevelopment potential. Pending 
redevelopment capital expenditures are limited to 
health and safety issues only. With respect to Little 
Mountain, a redevelopment plan has been announced 
that will see the demolition of post WWii era housing 
and	the	replacement	of	the	224	units	with	an	equal	
number a new units.

Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
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Key risKs issue/CoNseQueNCes results duriNg 2006/07

Business  
continuity

BC Housing is heavily reliant on technology. 
a failure of these system through a natural 
disaster or otherwise would inhibit the 
delivery of our programs and services.

as well, a large number of British Columbia’s 
most vulnerable residents and the housing 
providers that serve them depend upon  
BC Housing for funding, service and 
housing. a major business interruption 
caused by a disaster, a pandemic or 
otherwise could cause severe hardship if  
BC Housing cannot produce payments and 
provide services.

During the year BC Housing suffered a flood 
affecting two floors at its home office over one 
weekend. staff implemented the business continu-
ity plan and were able have all critical functions up 
and running by the following Monday. this real 
world test of the business continuity plan together 
with an earlier table top exercise by senior manag-
ers helps to ensure that BC Housing is ready to 
respond to disasters. 

the business continuity plan includes first alert 
procedures for a major event or disaster, critical 
function procedures, information technology 
disaster	plan,	pandemic	plan,	earthquake	prepared-
ness and response plan and BC emergency response 
management system.

Higher inflation as a large funder of residential buildings,  
BC Housing is exposed to increases in utility 
and other operating costs. a 1% increase in 
CPi higher than budgeted increases 
expenses by $0.5 million.

During the year, BC Housing used bulk purchasing  
for insurance, natural gas, and appliances to combat 
inflation. as well, BC Housing continued to pursue 
energy efficiency upgrades to the public housing stock. 

Labour relations BC Housing relies on its unionized workforce 
to provide services. a labour disruption 
would severely impact BC Housing’s ability 
to provide services to tenants, applicants 
and housing providers. 

as well, due to the robust economy and low 
rate of unemployment, it is increasingly 
difficult	to	hire	and	retain	qualified	staff.

BC Housing continued to implement its People 
strategy (a multi-year Human resources Plan) and 
also rolled-out a leadership development program 
for senior managers. With a focus on recruiting and 
retaining skilled, creative and committed employ-
ees, the People strategy fosters a good working 
environment;	builds	a	culture	of	employee	
engagement;	and	ensures	training	and	advance-
ment opportunities are in place. By focusing on the 
leadership skills of managers in the organization,  
BC Housing ensures that we use our financial and 
human resources as productively as possible.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

future outlooK

During this past decade, funding partners demonstrated their 
commitment to continue to deliver programs that provide 
affordable housing and remain committed to do so in the 
future. BC Housing’s total approved budget of $563 million  
in 2008/09 is the largest housing budget in the province’s  
history. total provincial spending in 2008/09 is budgeted at 
$383 million to cover SAFER, the Rental Assistance Program, 
ILBC, PHI, and the management and maintenance of the public 
housing stock. included in the 2008/09 budget is another $80 
million in one time grants to be spent on the construction 
and conversion of social housing. 

in 2009/10, the total provincial spending will dip with a reduc-
tion in the level of the one time grants (a further $10 million in 
one time grants is included in the budget) and then, in future 
years, provincial spending will increase as housing projects 
under the ILBC, PHI and Seniors’ Supportive Housing programs 
are	completed	and	begin	to	require	operating	subsidies.

Federal contributions of $140 million in 2008/09 are expected 
as a result of the social Housing agreement between BC Housing 
and CMHC. this agreement transferred administrative respon-
sibility for the federal housing portfolio in British Columbia to 
BC Housing. in future years, as federal housing projects reach 
the end of their operating agreements, federal contributions 
will gradually decline.

through many cost-saving, sustainability initiatives and pro-
gram delivery models, BC Housing has developed strategies 
to manage expenditure growth, contain costs, and maximize 
the effectiveness of our programs. strengthened partnerships 
for new developments and streamlined program delivery, 
including subsidy administration, along with continued reduc-
tions in administration expenses and overhead, and risk man-
agement strategies, will ensure BC Housing continues to meet 
its mandate in a cost-effective manner. 
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Financial Statements

British Columbia Housing Management Commission
Financial statements March 31, 2008

provincial Rental Housing Corporation
Financial statements March 31, 2008
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British Columbia Housing Management Commission
Financial statements March 31, 2008

statement of Management Responsibility

the financial statements of the British Columbia Housing Management Commission (the Commission) are the responsi-
bility of management and have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, 
consistently applied and appropriate in the circumstances. the preparation of financial statements necessarily involves 
the use of estimates which have been made using careful judgment. in management’s opinion, the financial statements 
have been properly prepared within the framework of the accounting policies summarized in the financial statements and 
incorporate, within reasonable limits of materiality, all information available at May 15, 2008. the financial statements have 
also been reviewed by the audit and risk Management Committee and approved by the Board of Commissioners. 

Management maintains systems of internal controls designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safe-
guarded and that reliable financial information is available on a timely basis. these systems include formal written poli-
cies	and	procedures,	careful	selection	and	training	of	qualified	personnel	and	appropriate	delegation	of	authority	and	
segregation of responsibilities within the organization. an internal audit function independently evaluates the effec-
tiveness of these internal controls on an ongoing basis and reports its findings to management and the audit and risk 
Management Committee.

the financial statements have been examined by independent external auditors. the external auditors’ responsibility is to 
express their opinion on whether the financial statements, in all material respects, fairly present the Commission’s finan-
cial position, results of operations and cash flows in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting princi-
ples. the auditors’ report, which follows, outlines the scope of their examination and their opinion.

the Board of Commissioners, through the audit and risk Management Committee, is responsible for ensuring that man-
agement fulfills its responsibility for financial reporting and internal controls. the audit and risk Management Commit-
tee comprised of a director who is not an employee, meets regularly with the external auditors, the internal auditors and 
management to satisfy itself that each group has properly discharged its responsibility to review the financial statements 
before recommending approval by the Board of Commissions. the audit and risk Management Committee also recom-
mends the appointment of external auditors to the Board of Commissioners. the external auditors have full and open 
access to the audit and risk Management Committee, with and without the presence of management.

shayne Ramsay 
Chief Executive Officer

May 15, 2008

Dan Maxwell 
Vice President of Corporate Services  
and Chief Financial Officer
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Auditors’ Report

to the Board of Commissioners of 
British Columbia Housing Management Commission

We have audited the statement of Financial Position of British Columbia Housing Management Commission as at  
March 31, 2008 and the statement of operations and Cash Flows for the year then ended. these financial statements 
are the responsibility of the Commission’s management. our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audit. 

We	conducted	our	audit	in	accordance	with	Canadian	generally	accepted	auditing	standards.	Those	standards	require	
that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. an audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. an audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 

in our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of British Columbia 
Housing Management Commission as at March 31, 2008 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 

Vancouver, British Columbia 
May 2, 2008

BDo Dunwoody LLP
Chartered accountants & advisors
600 Cathedral Place - 925 West georgia street
Vancouver, British Columbia
V6C 3L2
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as at March 31 2008
($000’s)

2007
($000’s)

assets
Current
 Cash $ 6,883 $ 29,811
 short term investments 99,924 62,785
 receivables 14,267 14,043
 Prepaid expenses and housing subsidies 15,990 12,075
 Due from Province of British Columbia 1,238 258
 Due from Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation 7,507 21,789
 Current portion of mortgages receivable (note 4) 469 75
 Construction loans to housing projects (note 3) 79,529 82,728

225,807 223,564

Mortgages receivable (note 4) 4,621 4,804
Proposal development advances (note 5) 168 428
Capital assets (note 6) 7,584 6,330

$ 238,180 $ 235,126

liabilities

Current
 accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 33,564 $ 23,778
 Deferred revenue (note 7) 33,672 35,796
 Due to Provincial rental Housing Corporation (note 8) 41,772 68,241
 tenants’ prepaid rent 650 432
 Due to Provincial treasury 1,000 10,028
 society funds held on deposit (note 9) 21,009 19,590
 grants received in advance of construction (note 10) 81,056 51,723

212,723 209,588

social Housing agreement reserves (note 11) 24,075 24,289

236,798 233,877

net assets (note 12) 1,382 1,249

$ 238,180 $ 235,126

Commitments	(Note	14)		•		Contingency	(Note	16)

on behalf of the Board

Chair

See accompanying notes to the financial statements

statement of Financial position
British Columbia Housing Management Commission
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Year ended March 31 2008 
($000’s)

2007 
($000’s)

reveNue
 Provincial contributions $ 351,690 $ 318,644
 Federal contributions 141,270 135,852
 tenant rent 35,685 29,733
 other 11,117 13,311

$ 539,762 $ 497,540

exPeNses
 Housing subsidies $ 337,133 $ 329,479
 Building modernization and improvement 58,331 49,980
 rental assistance 45,517 33,142
 salaries and labour 32,024 27,894
 operating expenses 22,955 14,318
 Building maintenance 10,473 9,064
 utilities 9,266 9,047
 Building mortgage costs 8,902 7,930
 office and overhead 8,243 9,187
 grants in lieu of property taxes (note 13) 6,739 5,128
 interest expense 46 2,265

$ 539,629 $ 497,434

excess of revenue over expenses 133 106

net assets, beginning of year 1,249 1,143

net assets, end of year (note 12) $ 1,382 $ 1,249

See accompanying notes to the financial statements

statement of operations
British Columbia Housing Management Commission
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as at March 31 2008 
($000’s)

2007 
($000’s)

Cash flows provided by (used in)

        opeRAting ACtiVities
  excess of revenue over expenses $ 133 $  106
  adjustments to determine cash flows:
   Depreciation 4,672 3,846
   Change in non-cash working capital 19,167 18,731

$ 23,972 $ 22,683

        iNvestiNg aCtivities
  short term investments $ (37,139) $ (27,890)
  Mortgages receivable (211) 439
  Proposal development advances 260 10,425
  Construction loans provided to housing projects 3,199 1,140
  Capital asset additions (5,926) (4,837)

$ (39,817) $ (20,723)

        fiNaNCiNg aCtivities
  Deferred revenue $ (2,124) $ 19,180
  advances from Provincial rental Housing Corporation (46,106) 42,042
  Due to Provincial treasury (9,028) (50,947)
  society funds held on deposit 1,419 3,160
  grants received in advance of construction 48,970 (11,370)
  social Housing agreement reserves (214) 24,289

$ (7,083) $ 26,354

(Decrease) increase in cash (22,928) 28,314

Cash, beginning of year 29,811 1,497

Cash, end of year $ 6,883 $ 29,811

See accompanying notes to the financial statements

statement of Cash Flows
British Columbia Housing Management Commission
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notes to the Financial statements March 31, 2008
British Columbia Housing Management Commission

1.  geNeral

the British Columbia Housing Management Commission is a Crown agency, established in 1967, responsible for devel-
oping new social housing under Provincial Housing Programs administering the Province’s shelter aid for elderly renters 
program,	and	Rental	Assistance	Program;	and	administering	a	variety	of	other	federal	and/or	provincial	housing	programs.	
the Commission manages public housing stock and administers agreements relating to units managed by housing spon-
sors. the Commission ensures that provincial housing policy is reflected in its programs and that these are delivered in a 
co-ordinated, cost-effective manner. the Commission is exempt from federal and provincial income taxes.

2.  sigNifiCaNt aCCouNtiNg PoliCies

basis of Presentation

these financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles 
for non-for-profit organizations.

use of estimates

in preparing these financial statements, management has made estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. actual results could differ from those estimates.

revenue recognition

unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue in the year received or receivable if the amount to be received can 
be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured.

restricted contributions are recognized as revenue in the period in which the related expenses are incurred. 

tenant rent revenue

tenant rent revenue represents rent charged to residents, and is determined as the lesser of market rent and a percent-
age of each resident’s income.

Capital assets

Capital assets are recorded at cost and depreciated over their estimated useful lives. Both computer hardware and soft-
ware are depreciated on the straight-line method over three years. all other capital assets are depreciated on the straight-
line method over five years.

employee benefit Plans

the employees and employers of the public service contribute to the Public service Pension Plan (the Plan), a jointly trust-
eed pension plan. the Public service Pension Board of trustees, representing plan members and employers, is responsi-
ble for overseeing the management of the Plan, including investment of the assets and administration of benefits. the 
Plan is a multi-employer contributory pension plan. Basic pension benefits are defined. the Plan has about 52,000 active 
plan members and approximately 32,000 retired plan members. 

Every	three	years	an	actuarial	valuation	is	performed	to	assess	the	financial	position	of	the	Plan	and	the	adequacy	of	plan	fund-
ing. the latest valuation as at March 31, 2005, indicated an unfunded liability of $767 million for basic pension benefits. the 
next valuation will be as at March 31, 2008 with results available in early 2009. the actuary does not attribute portions of the 
unfunded liability to individual employers. the Commission paid $2,071,773 for employer contributions to the Plan in fiscal 
2008 (2007: $1,742,964). the employee contribution to the Plan was $1,838,968 in fiscal 2008 (2007: $1,547,245).

financial instruments

the Commission’s financial instruments consist of cash, short-term investments, receivables, due from the Province of  
British Columbia, due from Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation, mortgages receivable, construction loans to 
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housing projects proposal development advances, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, due to Provincial rental 
Housing Corporation, due to Provincial treasury and society funds held on deposit. these financial instruments are 
accounted for as follows:

Held-for-trading  the Commission has designated cash and short-term investments as held-for-trading. these instru-
ments are initially recognized at cost. upon application of the financial instruments accounting policy, they are recog-
nized	at	their	fair	value,	determined	by	published	price	quotations	in	an	active	market.	Transactions	to	purchase	or	sell	
these items are recorded on the settlement date, and transaction costs are immediately recognized in income. net gains 
and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognized immediately in income.

Loans and receivables  the Commission has classified the following financial assets as loans and receivables: receiv-
ables, due from Province of British Columbia, due from Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation, mortgages receiv-
able, construction loans to housing projects and proposal development advances. these assets are initially recognized 
at their fair value. Fair value is approximated by the instrument’s initial cost in a transaction between unrelated parties. 
Loans	and	receivables	are	subsequently	measured	at	their	amortized	cost,	using	the	effective	interest	method.	Gains	
and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognized in net income upon de-recognition or impairment. given 
the short-term nature of receivables, due from Province of British Columbia, due from Canada Mortgage and Housing 
Corporation,	and	construction	loans	to	housing	projects	-	their	carrying	value	equate	to	their	current	fair	value.	The	cur-
rent fair value of mortgages receivable is set out in note 4. the current fair value of proposal development advances is 
not determinable.

Other financial liabilities  the Commission has classified the following financial liabilities as other financial liabilities: 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities, due to Provincial rental Housing Corporation, due to Provincial treasury and 
society funds held on deposit. these liabilities are initially recognized at their fair value. Fair value is approximated by the 
instrument’s initial cost in a transaction between unrelated parties. 

Other	financial	liabilities	are	subsequently	measured	at	their	amortized	cost,	using	the	effective	interest	method.	Gains	
and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognized in net income upon de-recognition or impairment. the cur-
rent fair value of accounts payable and accrued liabilities, due to Provincial rental Housing Corporation and due to Pro-
vincial	Treasury	equate	to	their	carrying	value	due	to	their	short-term	nature.	The	current	fair	value	of	Society	funds	held	
on	deposit	equates	to	its	carrying	value	because	it	accrues	interest	at	a	variable	current	rate.

Change in accounting Policy 

effective april 1, 2007, the Commission adopted the Canadian institute of Chartered accountants’ (institute) new recom-
mendations for the recognition and measurement of financial instruments, and amendments to the existing presenta-
tion and disclosure standards. the new recommendations establish standards for recognizing and measuring financial 
assets, financial liabilities and derivatives. Financial instruments are defined as a contractual right to either receive or 
deliver cash or another financial instrument to another party. 

Not-for-profit	organizations	are	also	required	to	present	gains,	losses,	revenues	and	expenses	arising	from	derivatives,	
hedges and other financial instruments as separate components of the change in net assets. the Commission does not 
have	any	transactions	which	qualify	for	hedge	accounting.

transactions entered in to prior to the adoption of these recommendations have not been retroactively designated. in 
accordance with the transitional provisions, the prior year comparative figures have not been restated. 

Pursuant	to	the	requirements	of	these	financial	instruments	standards,	the	Commission	now	classifies	and	recognizes	
its financial assets and liabilities as described above. upon adoption, the Commission re-measured its held-for-trading 
financial assets at their fair value, and its held-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables and other liabilities at their 
amortized cost. this change did not have a material impact on the carrying value of any of these items. 

British Columbia Housing Management Commission
notes to the Financial statements (continued)
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New accounting Pronouncements 

recent accounting pronouncements that have been issued but are not yet effective and have a potential implication 
for the Commission, are as follows:

The	Institute’s	expanded	disclosure	and	presentation	requirements	enable	users	to	evaluate	the	significance	of	financial	
instruments to an entity’s financial position and performance. 

these standards are effective for financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after october 1, 2007. the 
Commission is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of these changes on the disclosure and presentation 
within its financial statements.

3.  CoNstruCtioN loaNs to housiNg ProjeCts

in its capacity as a national Housing act approved lender, the Commission funds construction draws for societies who 
are building approved projects under social housing programs. these advances are repaid at substantial completion of 
each project from financing arranged with private lenders. societies are charged interest at the Province’s weighted aver-
age borrowing rate for short-term funds, plus administration costs. 

the Provincial treasury provides funding to the Commission for the purpose of advancing loans for construction. these 
loans are secured and bear interest at the Province’s weighted average borrowing rate for short-term funds. the Com-
mission has the authority to borrow up to a maximum of $165 million from the Provincial treasury.

4.  mortgages reCeivable

the Commission, in its capacity as a national Housing act approved lender, occasionally acts as the take-out lender for some 
projects. the mortgages are secured by property and bear interest rates of up to 9.48%. (fair value - $5,228) (2006 - $5,273)

5.  ProPosal develoPmeNt advaNCes

Loan advances are made to sponsoring societies for needs studies, incorporation and site development costs. these 
are secured non-interest bearing advances and are normally repaid upon project completion or remain outstanding for 
three years, at which time they are written-off. an allowance is established for the value of advances outstanding when-
ever there is uncertainty about projects proceeding to the final commitment stage. an allowance was not considered 
necessary for this year or prior.

6.  CaPital assets

 Cost 
  accumulated 

depreciation 

 2008 
($000’s) 

net  
book value 

  2007 
($000’s) 

net 
book value 

Computer software $ 12,050 $ 7,782 $ 4,268 $ 4,246
Computer hardware 2,132 1,583 549 565
tenant improvements 4,111 2,359 1,752 617
office furniture 2,526 1,838 688 615
Office	equipment 628 585 43 43
Vehicles 412 173 239 200
Grounds	equipment 283 238 45 44

$ 22,142 $ 14,558 $ 7,584 $ 6,330
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7.  deferred reveNue

these funds are restricted contributions received in advance of related expenditures that are incurred in the following fiscal year. 

8.  due to ProviNCial reNtal housiNg CorPoratioN

Amounts	represent	funds	advanced	for	the	acquisition	and	development	of	properties	under	social	housing	programs.	
the advances are non-interest bearing with no set terms of repayment.

9.  soCiety fuNds held oN dePosit

these funds represent the balance of mortgage advances held to cover various non-profit society construction and soft 
costs	required	to	complete	their	projects.	Interest	accrues	on	the	society	funds	at	the	province’s	weighted	average	bor-
rowing rate for short term funds.

10.  graNts reCeived iN advaNCe of CoNstruCtioN

the Commission receives funds from the Province and Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC), the use of 
which is restricted to the construction of specific social housing projects.

British Columbia Housing Management Commission
notes to the Financial statements (continued)

 Balance, 
beginning 

of year  
($000’s)

grant  
received 
($000’s)

Construction 
costs incurred 

($000’s)

Balance, 
end of year 

($000’s)

Project grants $ 22,548 $ 97,872 $ (63,922) $ 56,498
CMHC – Phase 1 3,821 36 (2,121) 1,736
CMHC – Phase 2 20,175 6,150 (10,731) 15,594
Ministry – other 5,179 38,990 (36,941) 7,228

$ 51,723 $ 143,048 $ (113,715) $ 81,056

 2007 
($000’s)

 Contributions 
received 

($000’s)

revenue 
recognized 

($000’s)
  2008 

($000’s) 

Provincial Contributions $ 28,414 $ 350,202 $ (351,637) $ 26,979
Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation 7,327 140,622 (141,270) 6,679
other agencies 55 12 (53) 14

$ 35,796 $ 490,836 $ (492,960) $ 33,672

the social Housing agreements reserves (note 11) represent further restricted contributions from Canada Mortgage and Housing  
Corporation of a long term nature. 
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11.  soCial housiNg agreemeNt reserves

the funds are available to offset future cost increases in the federal social housing portfolio due to inflation and changes 
in interest rates, or losses on loans owing by third parties. the funds are restricted under the social Housing agreement 
for only these purposes.

12.  ChaNges iN Net assets

13.  graNts iN lieu of taxes

The	Commission,	on	behalf	of	the	Province	and	CMHC,	pays	each	municipality	a	grant	equivalent	to	gross	property	taxes	due	for	all	 
residential properties and projects managed.

14.  CommitmeNts

the Commission has minimum rental obligations under operating leases for office space over the next five fiscal years as follows: 

15.  related Party traNsaCtioNs

In	the	normal	course	of	operations,	the	Commission	acquires	goods	and	services	from	the	Province	and	certain	crown	
corporations, under prevailing trade terms. 

these statements do not include the capital cost of the projects, which are owned by Provincial rental Housing Corporation (PrHC). 

($000’s)

2009 $ 3,791
2010 3,339
2011 2,135
2012 1,482
2013 $ 1,509

invested in 
capital assets 

($000’s)
unrestricted 

($000’s)
2008  

($000’s)
2007  

($000’s)

Balance, beginning of year $ 6,330 $ (5,081) $ 1,249 $ 1,143
excess of revenue over expenses for the year (4,672) 4,805 133 106
addition to capital assets 5,926 (5,926) - -

$ 7,584 $ (6,202) $ 1,382 $ 1,249

($000’s)

Balance, beginning of year $ 24,289
Funds applied (398)
investment income 184

Balance, end of year $ 24,075
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16.  CoNtiNgeNCy

building envelope failure

in response to industry concerns and experience regarding building envelope failure, the Commission undertook a  
systematic review of non-profit and co-operative owned buildings and directly managed buildings under its administra-
tion. Buildings included in the study are part of the Federal/Provincial housing portfolio. the Commission received pre-
liminary estimates for the cost of remediation for a number of projects. 

substantially all of the buildings have been examined. the costs, subject to confirmation through detailed engineer-
ing studies or actual repairs, are estimated to be in the range of $ 167.4 million. repairs to non profit and co-operative 
owned buildings will be undertaken by housing sponsors in the future and the resulting expenditures, if accepted and 
approved,	will	be	cost-shared	with	CMHC	and	the	Province	based	on	various	program	funding	formulae.	Requests	for	
funding of the repairs will be included in annual budgets and reimbursed based on actual costs incurred. 

letters of guarantee

as at March 31, 2008, the Commission was contingently liable with respect to letters of guarantee totalling $1,058,157 
for municipal development cost charges.

17.  fiNaNCial iNstrumeNt risKs 

the Commission, through its financial assets and liabilities, is exposed to various risks. the following analysis provides a 
measurement of those risks at March 31, 2008.

a.  Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that the Commission will incur a loss due to the failure by its debtors to meet their contractual obli-
gations. Financial instruments that potentially subject the Commission to credit risk consist primarily of cash and short 
term investments, accounts receivable, mortgage receivables and construction loans. the Commission has an invest-
ment policy to ensure investments are managed appropriately to secure the preservation of capital and the availability 
of	liquid	funds.	The	Commission	has	also	retained	two	qualified	investment	firms	to	invest	surplus	funds	in	accordance	
with its investment policy. the majority of receivables are due from federal and provincial agencies. Mortgage receiv-
ables are secured by property and are generally held for short periods (see note 4). Construction loans are also secured 
by property and repaid at substantial completion of project (see note 3).

b.  foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates. the Commission is not exposed to foreign exchange risk as all securities are denom-
inated in Canadian dollars.

c.  interest rate risk

interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. Construction loans bear interest at the Province’s weighted average borrowing rate, 
but these loans are short term. investments bear some interest rate risk but these risks are mitigated through the diver-
sification of the portfolio.

d.  market risk

Market risk is the risk that the value of an investment will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, whether those 
changes are caused by factors specific to the individual investment, or factors affecting all securities traded in the market 
(see note 2 – financial instruments).

e.  liquidity risk

Liquidity	risk	is	the	risk	that	the	Commission	will	not	be	able	to	meet	its	obligations	as	they	fall	due.	The	Commission	
maintains	adequate	levels	of	working	capital	to	ensure	all	its	obligations	can	be	met	when	they	fall	due	(see	note	2	–	
financial instruments).

British Columbia Housing Management Commission
notes to the Financial statements (continued)
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provincial Rental Housing Corporation
Financial statements March 31, 2008

statement of Management Responsibility

the financial statements of the Provincial rental Housing Corporation (the Corporation) are the responsibility of man-
agement and have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, consistently 
applied and appropriate in the circumstances. the preparation of financial statements necessarily involves the use of 
estimates which have been made using careful judgment. in management’s opinion, the financial statements have been 
properly prepared within the framework of the accounting policies summarized in the financial statements and incor-
porate, within reasonable limits of materiality, all information available at May 15, 2008. the financial statements have 
also been reviewed by the audit and risk Management Committee and approved by the Board of Directors. 

Management maintains systems of internal controls designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded 
and that reliable financial information is available on a timely basis. these systems include formal written policies and proce-
dures,	careful	selection	and	training	of	qualified	personnel	and	appropriate	delegation	of	authority	and	segregation	of	respon-
sibilities within the organization. an internal audit function independently evaluates the effectiveness of these internal controls 
on an ongoing basis and reports its findings to management and the audit and risk Management Committee.

the financial statements have been examined by independent external auditors. the external auditors’ responsibility is to 
express their opinion on whether the financial statements, in all material respects, fairly present the Corporation’s financial 
position, results of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows in accordance with Canadian generally accepted account-
ing principles. the auditors’ report, which follows, outlines the scope of their examination and their opinion.

the Board of Directors, through the audit and risk Management Committee, is responsible for ensuring that manage-
ment fulfills its responsibility for financial reporting and internal controls. the audit and risk Management Committee, 
comprised of a director who is not an employee, meets regularly with the external auditors, the internal auditors and 
management to satisfy itself that each group has properly discharged its responsibility to review the financial statements 
before recommending approval by the Board of Commissions. the audit and risk Management Committee also recom-
mends the appointment of external auditors to the Board of Directors. the external auditors have full and open access 
to the audit and risk Management Committee, with and without the presence of management.

shayne Ramsay 
President

 
May 15, 2008

dan Maxwell 
Chief Financial Officer
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Auditors’ Report

to the shareholder of the 
Provincial rental Housing Corporation

We have audited the statement of Financial Position of the Provincial rental Housing Corporation as at March 31, 2008 
and the statement of operations, Changes in net assets and Cash Flows for the year then ended. these financial  
statements are the responsibility of the Corporation’s management. our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements based on our audit. 

We	conducted	our	audit	in	accordance	with	Canadian	generally	accepted	auditing	standards.	Those	standards	require	
that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. an audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. an audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 

in our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Provincial rental 
Housing Corporation as at March 31, 2008 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.   

Vancouver, British Columbia 
May 2, 2008

BDo Dunwoody LLP
Chartered accountants & advisors
600 Cathedral Place - 925 West georgia street
Vancouver, British Columbia
V6C 3L2
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as at March 31 2008 
($000’s)

2007 
($000’s) 

assets
investment in properties (note 3) $ 540,380 $ 458,393
Debenture subsidy receivable 839 839
Due from British Columbia Housing Management
 Commission (note 4) 41,772 68,241
Cash  1  1 

$ 582,992 $ 527,474

liabilities
Long-term debt (note 5) $ 216,619 $ 206,139
interest payable 568 584
Provincial transfer tax payable - 7,431
unearned lease revenue 91,984 94,035
Funding in advance of construction (note 6) 19,150 48,246
Deferred contributions (note 7) 67,452 30,317

$ 395,773 $ 386,752

Net assets
invested in properties $ 164,325 $ 127,902
internally restricted reserves (note 8) 17,906 16,932
unrestricted net assets (deficiency) 4,988 (4,112)

$ 187,219 $ 140,722

$ 582,992 $ 527,474

Subsequent	event	(Note	11)		

on behalf of the Board

Director    Director

See accompanying notes to the financial statements

statement of Financial position
Provincial rental Housing Corporation
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statement of operations
Provincial rental Housing Corporation

Year ended March 31 2008 
($000’s)

 2007 
(000’s) 

reveNue
 Directly managed debenture subsidy $ 13,516 $ 12,578
 group home mortgage subsidy 8,656 7,339
 Lease revenue 2,051 2,051
 Contribution revenue 4,593 1,452
 gain on sale of property 4,974 1,657

$ 33,790 $ 25,077

exPeNses
 interest on long-term debt $ 13,690 $ 13,324
 Property redevelopment (note 9) 11,000 -
 Depreciation 8,179 5,596
 group home and self insurance claims 531 -

33,400 18,920

excess of revenue over expenses for the year $ 390 $ 6,157

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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statement of Changes in net Assets
Provincial rental Housing Corporation

invested in 
Properties 

($000’s)

 group Home 
replacement 

reserves 
(000’s) 

self insurance  
reserves 

(000’s)
unrestricted 

(000’s)
2008 

(000’s)
2007 

(000’s)

Balance, beginning of year $ 127,902 $ 5,542 $ 11,390 $ (4,112) $ 140,722 $ 113,150
excess of revenue over expenses  
 for the year

(3,038) 190 (7) 3,245 390 6,157

Disposal of property (1,029) - - 1,029 - -
additional funding for year - 104 687 (791) - -
transfer of internally restricted  
 reserves from BCHMC

- - - - - 16,932

transfer for capital funding received  
 for prior year

(3,036) - - 3,036 - -

transfer for repayment of debt 4,950 - - (4,950) - -
reversal of capital property tax (7,531) - - 7,531 - -
transfer from province for investment  
 in properties

46,107 - - - 46,107 4,483

Balance, end of year $ 164,325 $ 5,836 $ 12,070 $ 4,988 $ 187,219 $ 140,722

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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Year ended March 31  2008  
 ($000’s) 

 2007  
 ($000’s) 

Cash flows provided by (used in)

        oPeratiNg aCtivities
  excess of revenue over expenses 
  (expenses over revenue)

$ 390 $ 6,157

  adjustments to determine cash flows:
            Depreciation 8,179 5,596
            amortization of unearned lease revenue  (2,051)  (2,051)
            amortization of deferred contributions (3,090) (1,625)
            transfer of self insurance reserve - 11,390
            transfer of group home replacement reserve - 5,542
            Change in non-cash working capital (7,447) 8,361

$ (4,019) $ 33,370

        iNvestiNg aCtivities
	 	 Property	acquisitions $ (90,165) $ (112,423)

$ (90,165) $ (112,423)

        fiNaNCiNg aCtivities
  new financing $ 19,359 $ 87,350
  Long-term debt repayment (8,880) (9,089)
  Funding in advance of construction (28,334) 47,593
  Deferred contributions 39,463 6,196
	 	 Property	acquisition	contribution	receipts 46,107 4,483
  Due to / from British Columbia Housing 
            Management Commission 26,469 (57,480)

$ 94,184 $ 79,053

increase in cash  -  - 

Cash, beginning of year  1  1 

Cash, end of year $  1 $  1 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements

statement of Cash Flows
Provincial rental Housing Corporation
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notes to the Financial statements March 31, 2007
Provincial rental Housing Corporation

1.  geNeral

the Provincial rental Housing Corporation was incorporated under the Company act of the Province of British Colum-
bia in 1961. the Corporation is wholly owned by the Province, and is an agent of the Crown. the Corporation is exempt 
from federal and provincial income taxes.

the Corporation holds property for social and other low cost housing for the Province. it also holds land under long-
term leases to housing sponsors. the subsidized rental housing units of the Corporation are managed and operated by 
the	British	Columbia	Housing	Management	Commission	(the	“Commission”),	which	is	a	Crown	agency	that	records	the	
related rental revenue and is responsible for all of the operating and administrative activities and related costs. 

2.  sigNifiCaNt aCCouNtiNg PoliCies

basis of Presentation

these financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles 
for non-for-profit organizations.

use of estimates

in preparing these financial statements management has made estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. actual results could differ from those 
estimates.

investment in Properties

the Corporation capitalizes its investment in properties at cost and depreciates its buildings on the straight-line method 
over 25 years

Property leases

the Corporation leases property used for housing projects to housing sponsors. these sixty-year leases are prepaid by 
the housing sponsors when the housing projects are completed and ready for occupancy. the Corporation amortizes 
the lease revenue over the term of each lease and records the unearned portion as unearned lease revenue.

deferred Contributions

Funding	received	from	the	Province	used	for	acquisition	of	depreciable	capital	assets	is	recorded	as	deferred	contribu-
tions	and	is	recognized	as	a	recovery	in	the	statement	of	operations	equal	to	depreciation	charged	on	related	depre-
ciable capital assets.

Funding	received	from	the	Province	for	acquisition	of	non-depreciable	capital	assets,	such	as	land,	is	allocated	to	net	
assets	invested	in	properties	when	the	related	assets	are	acquired.

Net assets invested in Properties

For some social housing projects and group homes, the Province provides grants to the Corporation for a portion of the 
construction costs. the Corporation records the portion of the grant relating to land as net assets invested in Proper-
ties when the projects are completed.

From time to time, the Corporation disposes of property purchased for social housing projects that cannot proceed due 
to various circumstances. the proceeds from these sales are applied against the cost of purchasing alternate sites as 
appropriate. any surplus or deficiency resulting from those sales is credited or charged to revenue.
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financial instruments

the Corporation’s financial instruments consist of debenture subsidy receivable, due from BC Housing Management Com-
mission, cash, long-term debt and interest payable. these financial instruments are accounted for as follows:

Loans and receivables  the Corporation has classified the following financial assets as loans and receivables: debenture 
subsidy receivable and due from BC Housing Management Commission. these assets are initially recognized at their fair 
value. Fair value is approximated by the instrument’s initial cost in a transaction between unrelated parties. Loans and 
receivables	are	subsequently	measured	at	their	amortized	cost,	using	the	effective	interest	method.	Gains	and	losses	aris-
ing from changes in fair value are recognized in net income upon de-recognition or impairment. given the short-term 
nature	of	these	items	their	carrying	value	equates	to	their	fair	value.

Other financial liabilities  the Corporation has classified the following financial liabilities as other financial liabilities: long-
term debt and interest payable. these liabilities are initially recognized at their fair value. Fair value is approximated by 
the	instrument’s	initial	cost	in	a	transaction	between	unrelated	parties.	Other	financial	liabilities	are	subsequently	mea-
sured at their amortized cost, using the effective interest method. gains and losses arising from changes in fair value 
are	recognized	in	net	income	upon	de-recognition	or	impairment.	The	fair	value	of	interest	payable	equates	its	carrying	
value. see note 5 in regard to fair value of long-term debt.

Change in accounting Policy 

effective april 1, 2007, the Corporation adopted the Canadian institute of Chartered accountants’ new recommendations 
for the recognition and measurement of financial instruments, and amendments to the existing presentation and dis-
closure standards. the new recommendations establish new standards for recognizing and measuring financial assets, 
financial liabilities and derivatives. Financial instruments are defined as a contractual right to either receive or deliver 
cash or another financial instrument to another party. 

Not-for-profit	organizations	are	also	required	to	present	gains,	losses,	revenues	and	expenses	arising	from	derivatives,	
hedges and other financial instruments as separate components of the change in net assets. the Corporation does not 
have	any	transactions	which	qualify	for	hedge	accounting.	

transactions entered in to prior to the adoption of these recommendations have not been retroactively designated. in 
accordance with the transitional provisions, the prior year comparative figures have not been restated.

	Pursuant	to	the	requirements	of	these	financial	instruments	standards,	the	Corporation	now	classifies	and	recognizes	
its financial assets and liabilities as described above. upon adoption, the Corporation re-measured its held-for-trading 
financial assets at their fair value, and its held-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables and other liabilities at their 
amortized cost. this change did not have a material impact on the carrying value of any of these items. 

New accounting Pronouncements 

The	Institute’s	expanded	disclosure	and	presentation	requirements	enable	users	to	evaluate	the	significance	of	finan-
cial instruments to an entity’s financial position and performance. these standards are effective for financial statements 
relating to fiscal years beginning on or after october 1, 2007. the Corporation is currently evaluating the impact of the 
adoption of these changes on the disclosure and presentation within its financial statements. 

provincial Rental Housing Corporation
notes to the Financial statements (continued)
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 Cost 
  accumulated 

depreciation 

 2008 
($000’s) 

net  
book value 

  2007 
($000’s) 

net 
book value 

Land $ 396,329 $ - $ 396,329 $ 358,023
Buildings 248,511 109,511 139,000 96,081
Construction in progress 5,051 - 5,051 4,289

$ 649,891 $ 109,511 $ 540,380 $ 458,393

3.  iNvestmeNt iN ProPerties

4.  due from british Columbia housiNg maNagemeNt CommissioN

Amounts	represent	funds	advanced	for	the	acquisition	and	development	of	properties	under	social	housing	programs.	
the amounts are non-interest bearing with no set terms of repayment.

5.  loNg-term debt
 2008 

($000’s)
  2007 

($000’s) 

Canada Mortgage & Housing Corporation (CMHC) $ 105,866 $ 110,822
  Debenture mortgages repayable at the end of each year,  

maturing between the years 2024 and 2027, bearing interest  
at rates from 4.35% to 14.25%, and secured by unregistered first 
mortgages on properties of the Corporation (Fair value - $128,133) 
(2007 - $151,234)

Chartered banks and CMHC $ 110,753 95,317
  Mortgages repayable monthly over terms of up to 35 years,  

bearing interest at rates from 3.59% to 8.7%, and secured by 
registered first mortgages on properties of the Corporation  
(Fair value - $114,638) (2007 - $96,203)

$ 216,619 $ 206,139
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provincial Rental Housing Corporation
notes to the Financial statements (continued)

group Home 
reserves 

($000’s)

 self insurance 
reserves 

($000’s)
  total 

($000’s) 

Balance, beginning of year $ 5,542 $ 11,390 $ 16,932
additional funding 104 687 791
interest 239 474 713

5,885 12,551 18,436
Less: expenditures & claims (49) (481) (530)

Balance, end of year $ 5,836 $ 12,070 $ 17,906

Fair values were estimated by calculating the present value of the future mortgage payments discounted at the  
March 31st yield of the government of Canada benchmark bond plus 50 basis points.

The	aggregate	principal	repayments	required	in	each	of	the	next	five	fiscal	years	is	estimated	to	be	as	follows:

6.  fuNdiNg iN advaNCe of CoNstruCtioN

This	balance	represents	construction	funding	received	from	various	Provincial	ministries	in	advance	of	property	acquisi-
tion and construction of non-profit housing and group homes. interest does not accrue on funds received.

7.  deferred CoNtributioNs

8.  grouP home rePlaCemeNt aNd self iNsuraNCe reserves

in the prior year, the Commission transferred the group Home replacement and self insurance reserves to the Provincial 
rental Housing Corporation. in previous periods, these reserves were recorded as liabilities of the Commission to fund 
major repairs, maintenance and uninsured losses of buildings owned by the Provincial rental Housing Corporation. the 
funds are now recorded as internally restricted net assets of the Corporation.

($000’s)

2009 $ 29,397
2010 31,146
2011 26,562
2012 20,162
2013 18,363
thereafter 90,989

$ 216,619

 2008 
($000’s)

  2007 
($000’s) 

Balance, beginning of year $ 31,079 $ 21,457
 receipts 39,463 11,247
 amortization (3,090) (1,625)

Balance, end of year $ 67,452 $ 31,079
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9.  ProPerty redeveloPmeNt

During fiscal 2007/08, the Corporation made expenditures to improve relations with parties who have a significant inter-
est in the redevelopment of the Corporation’s properties. 

10.  related Party traNsaCtioNs

a.  insurance

the Corporation does not insure its rental housing properties. instead property losses are compensated by the Province 
through the Commission and, for certain properties, by CMHC.

b.  directly managed debenture subsidy

Directly managed debenture subsidy represents funds received from the Commission for the principal and interest costs 
of the long-term debt related to directly managed properties.

c.  group home mortgage subsidy

group home mortgage subsidy represents the funds received from the Commission for mortgage payments to char-
tered banks and CMHC.

d.  administration and financing

the Commission acts as agent in administering and financing the operations and capital projects of the Corporation. no 
administration costs are charged to the Corporation for such services performed.

11.  subseQueNt eveNt

the Corporation made a commitment to sell its Little Mountain property after the year end. the date of transfer of the 
property is conditional upon zoning approval by the City of Vancouver. the transfer will result in a material gain on sale, 
the amount of which will not be determinable until the title to the property is actually transferred.

12.  fiNaNCial iNstrumeNt risKs 

the Corporation, through its financial assets and liabilities, is exposed to various risks. the following analysis provides a 
measurement of those risks at March 31, 2008. 

a.  Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that the Corporation will incur a loss due to the failure by its debtors to meet their contractual obli-
gations. Financial instruments that potentially subject the Corporation to credit risk consist primarily of the funds due 
from the Commission (note 4). 

b.  foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates. the Corporation is not exposed to foreign exchange risk. 

c.  interest rate risk

interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market interest rates. the corporation is subject to interest rate risk on its long term debt portfolio. the corporation 
mitigates this risk by maximizing its borrowing from CMHC and seeking competitive interest rates from financial insti-
tutions. the corporation is also able to mitigate short term interest rate changes through the Commissions ability to 
borrow directly from the Provincial treasury.
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d.  market risk

Market risk is the risk that the value of an investment will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, whether those 
changes are caused by factors specific to the individual investment, or factors affecting all securities traded in the market. 
the Corporation is not exposed to Market risk.

e.  liquidity risk

Liquidity	risk	is	the	risk	that	the	Corporation	will	not	be	able	to	meet	its	obligations	as	they	fall	due.	The	Commission	
administers	the	finances	of	the	Corporation	and	maintains	adequate	levels	of	working	capital	to	ensure	all	its	obliga-
tions can be met when they fall due.

13.  ComParative figures

in the current period the presentation of receipts and expenditures from internally restricted reserves was changed so 
that these amounts would be reported in the statement of operations whereas in prior years such amounts were reported 
directly to Contributed surplus. the comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with this new presentation. as 
a result of this change, excess of revenue over expenses for the year increased by $1,657 from the amount previously 
reported;	however,	there	was	no	impact	on	the	overall	net	assets	of	the	Corporation.

provincial Rental Housing Corporation
notes to the Financial statements (continued)
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aboriginal homeless outreach Program:  Homeless outreach workers directly engage homeless aboriginal people living on 
the street and provide access to housing, income assistance, and community-based support services to help break the cycle 
of homelessness.

aboriginal housing initiative (ahi):  Provides funding to develop new, affordable housing for aboriginal people living off-
reserve, meeting long-term aboriginal housing needs.

assisted living:  assisted living units are self-contained apartments for seniors or people with disabilities who need some sup-
port services to continue living independently, but do not need 24-hour facility care. services provided include daily meals, 
social and recreational opportunities, assistance with medications, mobility and other care needs, a 24-hour response system 
and light housekeeping. 

Community Partnership initiatives (CPi):  Community Partnership initiatives help our housing partners create a range of 
innovative housing projects for people in need. CPi offers one-time grants, access to consulting services, and construction and 
long-term financing for projects that do not need ongoing operating subsidies.

Cooperative housing:  a housing development in which individual residents own a share in the cooperative. this share grants 
them	equal	access	to	common	areas,	voting	rights,	occupancy	of	an	apartment	or	townhouse	as	if	they	were	owners	and	the	
right to vote for board members to manage the cooperative. each member has one vote and members work together to keep 
their housing well-managed and affordable. 

Core housing Need:  Households in core housing need are those individuals who currently reside in housing that is either in 
need of major repair, does not have enough bedrooms for the size and makeup of the household, or costs 30 per cent or more 
of their total income, and who are unable to rent an alternative housing unit that meets these standards without paying 30 per 
cent or more of their income. 

emergency shelter:  short-stay housing of 30 days or less. emergency shelters provide single or shared bedrooms or dorm-
type sleeping arrangements, with varying levels of support to individuals. 

emergency shelter Program:  the program offers temporary shelter, food and other services to meet the basic nutritional 
and hygiene needs of people who are homeless as well as providing a gateway to support services that help individuals to  
re-stabilize their lives. there are approximately 60 homeless shelters and drop-in agencies funded by the government through-
out British Columbia.

group home:  a small, community-based development, usually under 10 beds/units, that provides affordable housing with 
supports to those with special needs including individuals with severe mental and physical disabilities, youth. and women with 
their children fleeing abuse. BC Housing provides administration and property management support for group homes on behalf 
of other provincial ministries and health authorities. 

homeless outreach Program:  the program connects homeless people to income assistance, housing and community-based 
health services in over 40 communities across the province. 

glossary

Program aCroNyms at a glaNCe

ahi – aboriginal Housing initiative

CPi – Community Partnership initiatives

hef – Housing endowment Fund

ilbC – independent Living BC Program

Phi – Provincial Homelessness initiative

raP – rental assistance Program

safer –  shelter aid for elderly renters Program

sro – single room occupancy Hotel
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housing endowment fund:  the fund is a $250 million capital endowment that was established to encourage new ideas and 
support innovative housing solutions. the investment revenue of approximately $10 million a year is paid out in keeping with 
the mandate and purpose of the Housing Endowment Fund. the intent is to allocate available revenue on an ongoing basis 
each year.

housing Providers:  non-profit housing societies and housing cooperatives that own and manage subsidized housing  
developments. this term can also include private-market landlords through whom BC Housing provides rent assistance to  
low-income households. 

independent living bC (ilbC):  Created in 2002, this housing-for-health program serves seniors and people with disabilities 
who	require	some	support,	but	do	not	need	24-hour	institutional	care. ILBC offers a middle option to bridge the gap between 
home care and residential care. through Housing Matters BC, the Province is committed to providing 5,000 affordable assisted 
living apartments for B.C. seniors and persons with disabilities. to date, more than 4,000 units have been allocated in commu-
nities across the province.

Nimby: (Not-in-my-back-yard)  Community opposition to new social housing developments based upon fear, assumptions 
and stereotypes that some people may harbour about the individuals that will live in these developments. 

Non-Profit housing:  rental housing that is owned and operated by community-based, non-profit societies. the mandates of 
these societies are to provide safe, secure, affordable accommodation to households with low to moderate incomes. Most non-
profit housing societies receive some form of financial assistance from government to enable them to offer affordable rents. 
each society operates independently under the direction of a volunteer board of directors. 

operating budget:  the annual budget for a non-profit or cooperative housing development. the budget forecasts the costs 
of operating a development, based on income and expenses, and is used to determine the subsidy level BC Housing provides 
each month to run the building.

Provincial homelessness initiative (Phi):  BC Housing provides funding for non-profit housing developments with support 
services that address homelessness in B.C. communities. through Housing Matters BC, the Province has committed to creating 
nearly 4,000 new and upgraded supportive housing units across B.C.

Public housing:  Housing that is jointly funded by the provincial and federal governments and predominantly managed by 
BC Housing. Most of these developments were constructed in the 1950s and 1960s.

rent assistance:  rent supplement agreements with private landlords as well as housing allowances paid directly to house-
holds in the private market. 

rental assistance Program:  the program is for low-income, working families with at least one dependent child and a house-
hold income of less than $35,000. Cash assistance is paid directly to eligible households to assist these families in meeting 
monthly rent payments in the private market

seniors’ supportive housing (ssh):  a program to upgrade or convert up to 750 subsidized housing units to supportive housing. 
the program provides specially modified rental homes, in selected subsidized housing developments, primarily to low-income 
seniors who need some assistance in order to continue to live independently. 

shelter aid for elderly renters (safer):  the saFer program provides direct cash assistance to eligible residents of British 
Columbia who are age 60 or over and pay rent for their homes.

single room occupancy hotel (sro):  single room occupancy hotels provide long-term accommodation in single rooms, 
typically without private bathrooms or kitchens. 

social housing:  includes both public housing and housing that is owned and managed by non-profit and cooperative  
housing providers.

subsidized housing:  encompasses all types of housing for which the provincial government provides a subsidy or rent 
assistance, including public, non-profit and cooperative housing, as well as rent assistance for people living in private-market  
housing. it also includes emergency housing and short-term shelters. 

glossary (continued)
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home office 
suite 1701 - 4555 Kingsway 
Burnaby BC V5H 4V8 
telephone: 604 433-1711 
Facsimile: 604 439-4722 
e-mail: webeditor@bchousing.org

vancouver Coastal region 
1296 station street 
Vancouver BC V6a 2X3 
telephone: 604 609-7024 
Facsimile: 604 609-7031 
e-mail: vancoastalregion@bchousing.org

fraser region 
suite 800 - 5945 Kathleen avenue 
Burnaby BC V5H 4J7 
telephone: 604 525-3033 
Facsimile: 604 525-8201 
e-mail: fraserregion@bchousing.org

interior region 
290 nanaimo avenue West 
Penticton BC V2a 1n5 
telephone: 250 493-0301 
outside Penticton call: 1-800-834-7149 
Facsimile: 250 492-1080 
e-mail: interiorregion@bchousing.org

Northern region 
1539 - 11 avenue 
Prince george BC V2L 3s6 
telephone: 250 562-9251 
outside Prince george call: 
1-800-667-1235 
Facsimile: 250 562-6488 
e-mail: northernregion@bchousing.org

Northern region: Prince rupert area office 
1400 Kootenay avenue 
Prince rupert BC V8J 3X5 
telephone: 250 627-7501 
Facsimile: 250 627-8975 
e-mail: northernprregion@bchousing.org

vancouver island region 
suite 301 - 3440 Douglas street 
Victoria BC V8Z 3L5 
telephone: 250 475-7550 
Facsimile: 250 475-7551 
e-mail: vanislandregion@bchousing.org

Program and information line  
1-800-257-7756 
Website: www.bchousing.org

Contact information

subsidy:  BC Housing provides monthly subsidies to organizations to fund the costs of operating subsidized-housing units. 
the subsidy is based on the operating costs set out in the annual budget, less the total rents/housing charges collected from 
tenants. subsidy payments include rent subsidies/repayable assistance and cover the mortgage payments, building mainte-
nance and other shelter-related costs. 

supportive/supported housing:  Housing that provides ongoing supports and services to residents who cannot live inde-
pendently and are not expected to become fully self-sufficient. 

the housing registry:  Centralized database of applicants’ information and housing providers coordinated by BC Housing.  
it allows individuals to apply for housing with multiple service providers using one application form. 

transitional housing:  Housing that is provided for a minimum of 30 days and up to two or three years, which includes  
the provision of on- or off-site support services to help people move towards independence and self-sufficiency. transitional 
housing is often called second-stage housing and includes housing for women with their children fleeing abuse. 
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in keeping with the requirements set out under the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act, this section outlines 
some of the key changes in reporting. these changes have been included in the 2008/09 service plan. an explanation 
of each of the changes has been provided.

summary of Changes to the goals and objectives
there were no changes to Bc Housing’s goals, however a new objective was added under goal 4: organizational  
excellence: Environmental Leadership in the Housing Sector. 

summary of Changes to the Measures
there were three changes to the measures when compared with the 2007/08 service plan. these changes are outlined below.

appendix a  Changes in reporting

2007/08 Service Plan Targets
this measure reports the effectiveness of Bc Housing’s cur-
rent practices in allocating resources to those most in need. 
the methodology for this measure will be revised to exclude 
the rental assistance programs and focus the measure on the 
physical housing stock. the performance of SAFER and the 
Rental Assistance Program are captured in a separate mea-
sure as part of goal 1. 

2007/08 
actual

2008/09 2009/10 2010/11

79% 84% 85% 86%

MeaSure: PercenTage of clienTS belonging To PrioriTy grouPS in SubSidized houSing (reviSed)

goal 3   provide access to appropriate Housing and services for Vulnerable British Columbians

2007/08 Service Plan Targets this new measure will assess Bc Housing’s ability to improve 
access to housing and support services for homeless people. 
there are two aspects to this measure: 1) the effectiveness of 
finding housing for the homeless; and 2) the ability, through 
the provision of supports, to keep these households from 
falling back into homelessness. 

2007/08 
Forecast

2008/09 2009/10 2010/11

new 
measure

minimum  
60%

minimum  
60%

minimum  
60%

MeaSure: PercenTage of hoMeleSS individualS acceSSing houSing who reMain houSed (new)
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appendix a  Changes in reporting (continued)

2007/08 Service Plan Targets this new measure will examine Bc Housing’s performance 
with respect to meeting the government’s greenhouse gas 
(gHg) emission targets for crown corporations. Bc Housing  
is committed to an annual five per cent reduction in gHg  
emissions each year during the 2008/09 service plan period.

2007/08 
Forecast

2008/09 2009/10 2010/11

new 
measure

5% 10% 15%

summary of Changes to targets
changes were made to the targets of one measure when compared to the 2007/08 service plan. these changes are  
outlined below.

2007/08 Service Plan Targets the targets for this measure have been adjusted to reflect 
changes in the expected completion of units in several pro-
gram areas. in addition, adjustments have been made to 
reflect the creation of additional units as part of the Housing 
Endowment Fund and the Aboriginal Housing Initiative.

the 2010/11 target of 199 units is based on the completion 
of units under existing funding programs (pHi, iLBc, and 
aHi), and is expected the construction of these units will 
be completed at this time. the targets will be revisited as 
future budgets may change.

2007/08 
target

2008/09 2009/10 2010/11

941 1,264 550 not forecast

2008/09 revised Service Plan Targets

2007/08 
actual

2008/09 2009/10 2010/11

2,437 1,405 1,053 199

MeaSure: PercenT reducTion in greenhouSe gaS eMiSSionS (new)

goal 4  organizational excellence

MeaSure: nuMber of new uniTS/bedS creaTed in PrioriTy areaS

goal 1  respond to gaps in the Housing Continuum
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appendix B  disclosure of Key reporting Judgments

goal 1  respond to gaps in the Housing Continuum

about the Measure

this measure reflects the number of new housing units or beds added at different points along the housing  
continuum during the reporting period.  

data Sources and Methodology

this measure reports on the number of units or beds funded by Bc Housing which have reached completion 
and/or are ready for occupancy during the reporting period. information to support this measure is captured through  
Bc Housing’s reporting systems.

reliability of the data

the complexity of the development process and other external factors, including changes in program or funding levels, 
can contribute to a result above or below the established targets. industry trends – including interest rates, construction 
costs and other factors – can also influence the outcomes. targets are established based on committed funding.

benchmarks

performance is benchmarked internally against past performance. no external benchmark is available.

about the Measure

this measure reports on the number of existing units which have been adapted or re-targeted to serve clients with 
higher priority needs, such as low-income or frail seniors, women and children fleeing abuse, persons with mental 
illness or addictions-related challenges and/or other special housing needs.  

data Sources and Methodology

individuals assisted through Bc Housing’s Health Services Program, Priority Placement Program, and through partner-
ships and initiatives established by tenant services during the reporting period comprise this measure. this measure 
also reports on Bc Housing’s success in providing units under the Seniors’ Supportive Housing Program. targets 
reflect the expected availability of resources as well as past experience in finding suitable partnership opportunities  
in the community. the targets are designed to reflect the expanded role of Health services staff in the assessment and 
placement of tenants in available units.

reliability of the data

tenant services and Housing operations report results quarterly. the results can vary depending on the availability 
of suitable units and the availability of funding for the necessary support services. success in meeting the objectives 
and targets related to this measure is also dependent on Bc Housing’s ability to identify appropriate partnership 
opportunities in the community. 

benchmarks

performance is benchmarked internally. 

MeaSure:  nuMber of new uniTS/bedS creaTed in PrioriTy areaS

MeaSure:  nuMber of exiSTing uniTS adaPTed To higher PrioriTy needS
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about the Measure

rent assistance programs represent an important element in the government’s housing strategy. this measure 
reports on the number of new households assisted under Bc Housing’s rent supplement programs.  

data Sources and Methodology

this measure reports on the number of new households assisted through SAFER and the Rental Assistance Program.

reliability of the data

information to support this measure is captured through Bc Housing’s reporting systems. the targets are based on 
an estimate of need based on population and household data from Bc stats (p.e.o.p.L.e. 31) and the 2001 census. 
due to the recent availability of 2006 census data, the targets may be revisited.

benchmarks

performance is benchmarked internally against past performance. no external benchmark is available.

appendix B  disclosure of Key reporting Judgments (continued)

MeaSure:  nuMber of new houSeholdS aSSiSTed Through renT aSSiSTance PrograMS
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about the Measure

this measure reports on the level of satisfaction reported by tenants living in public housing.

data Sources and Methodology

this measure is based on an annual tenant survey and reflects the percentage of tenants indicating they are satisfied  
or very satisfied in response to the question, How satisfied are you with your overall housing situation?  

reliability of the data

data to support this measure is collected throughout the year and is based on the results from a survey of tenants 
living in housing managed by Bc Housing. the survey uses a five-point scale to gather feedback from tenants on 
the following:

• Their overall satisfaction with their housing; 
• Their satisfaction with the way their development is managed; 
• Their satisfaction with the level of safety and security in their development; 
• Their satisfaction with the level of cleanliness of their development; and
• The responsiveness of management to requests.

approximately 3,300 tenants respond to the survey each year representing a 46% response rate.

benchmarks

performance is benchmarked internally against past performance. in addition, results are compared informally to 
published results reported by housing providers in other jurisdictions. However, no formal external benchmarking 
process has been established.

goal 2  protect and Manage existing Housing for the long term

appendix B  disclosure of Key reporting Judgments (continued)

MeaSure:   PercenTage of clienTS rePorTing SaTiSfacTion wiTh The QualiTy  
and SafeTy of Their houSing
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about the Measure

this measure ensures non-profit and co-operative housing providers are meeting the financial and operational  
standards set out in their agreements. this measure also gives the assurance that the existing portfolio of social 
housing is well managed and well maintained for the long-term. 

data Sources and Methodology

data to support this measure is gathered through the operational review process using a checklist/scorecard approach 
which evaluates housing provider performance across a number of dimensions including their maintenance and 
financial practices. administrative practices including tenant management, records and information management 
and human resource planning are also examined. 

reliability of the data

the operational review process is based upon site visits and is designed to confirm that services are delivered in 
an appropriate manner and to identify potential problems before they arise. in addition, all housing providers that 
receive an operating budget are subject to an operational review.

benchmarks

performance is benchmarked internally against past performance.

appendix B  disclosure of Key reporting Judgments (continued)

about the Measure

this measure compares average annual replacement reserve contributions to expenditures as a means of providing 
reasonable assurance against future risk.

data Sources and Methodology

this measure compares average annual contributions to expenditures based on a five-year average. information to 
support this measure is collected through Bc Housing’s reporting systems as part of the financial review process. 

reliability of the data

the target is based on an analysis of past results with current findings suggesting that sufficient funding is in place 
to meet future requirements. as the portfolio ages, it is expected that the ratio of contributions to expenditures will 
decrease with the difference being offset through existing reserve balances. the declining level to 2010/11 is in line 
with historical data, given that buildings will continue to age.

benchmarks

performance is benchmarked internally against past performance.

MeaSure:   raTio of rePlaceMenT reServe conTribuTionS To acTual exPendiTureS

MeaSure:   PercenTage of Social houSing ProviderS MeeTing financial and  
oPeraTional STandardS
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goal 3   provide access to appropriate Housing and services for 
 Vulnerable British Columbians

about the Measure

this measure ensures that applicants to the Housing Registry have access to the information and support that they 
need when applying for housing. the feedback received helps to strengthen and improve our business processes.   

data Sources and Methodology

data to support this measure is captured through an applicant feedback form, which is included as part of the appli-
cation process. using a five-point scale, applicants are asked questions related to their satisfaction with:

• The information that they received when applying for housing; 
• The ease and clarity of the application form; 
• The helpfulness of the materials and listings provided; and
• The knowledge and helpfulness of staff. 

applicants are asked to complete the feedback form and return it with their application. results are tracked and 
reported quarterly. 

reliability of the data

during 2007/08 feedback was received from approximately 13,800 applicants. Looking ahead, we are considering 
adjustments to this measure in consideration of the significant difference between the target and actual results.  
Factors being reviewed include the survey methodology (inclusion of the feedback form in the housing application 
form) which may be positively skewing results. in addition, a new housing application form was launched March 2008 
as part of the applicant eligibility review which may impact applicant satisfaction levels in the future. results will be 
monitored and alternative approaches considered including possible revisions to the survey methodology and/or 
target adjustments.

benchmarks

the target of a minimum of 75% reporting satisfaction reflects a basis benchmark established internally against past 
performance. no external benchmark is available. 

appendix B  disclosure of Key reporting Judgments (continued)

MeaSure:  PercenTage of new aPPlicanTS rePorTing SaTiSfacTion wiTh The ProceSS
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appendix B  disclosure of Key reporting Judgments (continued)

about the Measure

emergency shelters are an important point of access for moving homeless persons to the next stage in the housing 
continuum. this measure reports on the capacity of the emergency shelter system. this measure was appropriate when 
the Emergency Shelter Program was transferred to Bc Housing. now that the program is integrated within the broader 
housing continuum, the emergency shelters need to be situated as an integral part of that continuum and used more 
effectively as a gateway to transitional and permanent housing and to housing services which enhance the ability of 
people to move into stable housing environments. as such, this measure will be discontinued in 2009/10. it will, however, 
remain in place for the next year as we develop baselines and targets for the new measure “percentage of homeless  
individuals accessing housing who remain housed 6 months after placement” noted in appendix a. 

data Sources and Methodology

this measure reports on the percentage of nights where the shelters funded through the Emergency Shelter Program 
reported that they were full or over capacity. information to support this measure is captured through monthly  
statistics prepared by the individual emergency shelters. 

reliability of the data

there is some variation in the data collection and reporting capacity of the shelters. this can influence the results. in addi-
tion, differences across geographic regions and client groups, as well as seasonal variations, can impact the results. 

benchmarks

Year-over-year results are compared and analyzed. However, 2006/07 was the first year data was available.  

MeaSure:  PercenTage of nighTS where ShelTerS are aT full occuPancy 
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about the Measure

this measure reports on the percentage of subsidized housing clients belonging to an identified priority group.  
priority groups include low-income and frail seniors, persons with physical and mental disabilities, women and children 
who have experienced domestic violence and those who are homeless or at risk of homelessness. 

data Sources and Methodology

this measure is calculated by taking the current inventory of subsidized housing (including public housing,  
non-profit and co-op housing) and determining the percentage of units that are currently occupied by one of the 
designated priority groups. currently, the SAFER and Rental Assistance Program are included, however, rent supple-
ment program recipients will be excluded from this calculation as of the 2008/09 – 2010/11 service plan. 

reliability of the data

due to information limitations, this measure is likely under-reporting the extent to which the designated priority groups 
are being served. changes to Bc Housing’s application process that are currently underway will help to provide better 
and more complete information for future reporting.  

benchmarks

performance is benchmarked internally against past performance. no external benchmark is available.

goal 4  organizational excellence 

about the Measure

this measure assesses the efficiency of our management practices by benchmarking year-over-year increases in  
Bc Housing’s controllable administration costs relative to program delivery costs.  

data Sources and Methodology

this is an annual measure that is based on information captured in Bc Housing’s audited financial statements and 
is reported as a percentage of total program costs.

reliability of the data

in 2006/07, results were benchmarked with other housing organizations through an independent, third-party review. 
after making adjustments to reflect differences in definitions and reporting, the review found that Bc Housing had the 
lowest cost profile of all of the organizations involved in the study. the review also concluded that given variations in 
context and accounting, a year-over-year comparison within the same agency may be the most valid comparator.  

benchmarks

costs are standardized and benchmarked against a sample of six organizations including three with a provincial/
territorial mandate and three with municipal contexts.

appendix B  disclosure of Key reporting Judgments (continued)

MeaSure:  PercenTage of clienTS belonging To PrioriTy grouPS in SubSidized houSing 

MeaSure:  conTrollable adMiniSTraTion coSTS aS a PercenTage of PrograM delivery coSTS
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appendix B  disclosure of Key reporting Judgments (continued)

about the Measure

this measure compares per-square-foot construction costs for housing developed under Bc Housing programs with 
comparable developments in the private market. data captured through this measure allows Bc Housing to compare 
costs and trends over time and demonstrate that value for money is achieved.

data Sources and Methodology

this measure relies on the expertise provided through a construction-cost consulting firm to analyze the degree  
of variance between the per-square-foot construction costs for non-profit developments compared to comparable 
private-market developments. adjustments are made to reflect the design standards and requirements that in some 
cases exceed the standards and features provided in private-market developments. comparisons are then made 
with published construction-cost data (RS Means Construction Cost Data and Hanscomb Yardsticks for Costing) to 
determine the degree of variance.

reliability of the data

in many cases, the types of developments constructed through Bc Housing’s programs include a combination of 
services and amenities that make it difficult to make direct comparisons with the private market. in addition, the 
development process typically involves competing requirements that can influence the outcomes. this can make 
it difficult to get reliable comparisons with differences in time, location, building form, unit mix, amenities, scale, 
efficiency and quality. these all have an impact on the results that are achieved. the proposed methodology relies 
on the use of independent external verification and a quantity survey and cost measure approach to addressing 
the limitations. results are also triangulated against standard industry measures and cost data. 

benchmarks

costs are standardized and benchmarked against a sample of private-market buildings and industry cost data.

MeaSure:  Per-SQuare-fooT conSTrucTion coSTS
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about the Measure

this measure reports the level of employee engagement based on results from an annual staff survey. 

data Sources and Methodology

the survey instrument seeks to obtain staff feedback on the following:

• Clarity about what is expected;
• Having the right materials, tools and equipment; 
• Having a good relationship with one’s manager/supervisor; 
• Having received positive recognition for work in the past month; 
• Having the ability to use skills and talents to make a contribution; 
• Having a sense of alignment with the corporate goals and objectives; 
• Having clarity about how their work contributes to the broader goals and objectives; 
• Having input into decisions that have personal impact; 
• Having feedback on progress; and,
• Having access to learning opportunities.

reliability of the data

Baseline data was gathered through a commission-wide survey initiated in spring 2005 with follow-up surveys  
completed in 2007 and 2008. the survey was self-administered online with results being analyzed by an external 
research firm. approximately 72% of staff across the commission participated in the survey in 2008, helping to  
provide a high degree of confidence in the findings. 

benchmarks

comparisons are made with a cross-section of large and mid-size public- and private-sector companies to benchmark 
performance. the database contains more than 10,000 responses from across different public- and private-sector 
organizations.

appendix B  disclosure of Key reporting Judgments (continued)

MeaSure:  eMPloyee engageMenT index
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